

Current Evidence on E-Cigarettes

A Summary of Potential Impacts



Literature Review November 2018

Public Health Ontario

Public Health Ontario is a Crown corporation dedicated to protecting and promoting the health of all Ontarians and reducing inequities in health. Public Health Ontario links public health practitioners, frontline health workers and researchers to the best scientific intelligence and knowledge from around the world.

Public Health Ontario provides expert scientific and technical support to government, local public health units and health care providers relating to the following:

- communicable and infectious diseases
- infection prevention and control
- environmental and occupational health
- emergency preparedness
- health promotion, chronic disease and injury prevention
- public health laboratory services

Public Health Ontario's work also includes surveillance, epidemiology, research, professional development and knowledge services. For more information, visit <u>publichealthontario.ca</u>.

How to cite this document:

Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario), Berenbaum E, Keller-Olaman S, Manson H, Moloughney B, Muir S, Simms C, Singh H, Watson K. Current evidence on ecigarettes: a summary of potential impacts. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018.

©Queen's Printer for Ontario, 2018

Public Health Ontario acknowledges the financial support of the Ontario Government.

Authors

Erin Berenbaum, MSc Research Coordinator Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Public Health Ontario

Sue Keller-Olaman, PhD Manager, Knowledge Synthesis Services Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Public Health Ontario

Heather Manson, MD, MHSc, FRCPC Chief Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Public Health Ontario

Brent Moloughney, MD, MSc, FRCPC Medical Director Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Public Health Ontario

Sarah Muir, MSc Research Coordinator Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Public Health Ontario

Chase Simms, MPH Research Assistant Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Public Health Ontario

Harkirat Singh, MPH Research Coordinator Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Public Health Ontario

Kara Watson, MSc Senior Product Development Advisor Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Public Health Ontario

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank their colleagues in Public Health Ontario Library Services for designing and conducting the database searches. We would also like to acknowledge Justin Thielman and Sarah Orr for identifying and summarizing data on population trends in e-cigarette and combustible cigarette use.

Disclaimer

This document was developed by Public Health Ontario (PHO). PHO provides scientific and technical advice to Ontario's government, public health organizations and health care providers. PHO's work is guided by the current best available evidence at the time of publication.

The application and use of this document is the responsibility of the user. PHO assumes no liability resulting from any such application or use.

This document may be reproduced without permission for non-commercial purposes only and provided that appropriate credit is given to PHO. No changes and/or modifications may be made to this document without express written permission from PHO.

Contents

Main Messages1
Executive Summary2
Context2
Research Question
Methods2
Key Messages3
Question 1 – Effectiveness of E-Cigarettes as Cessation Aid3
Question 2 – E-Cigarettes and Smoking Initiation in Youth/Young Adults
Question 3 – Health Risks of SecondHand Exposure to E-cigarette Vapour4
Net Impacts4
Background and Context5
Introduction5
What Are E-Cigarettes5
Rapid Evolution of E-cigarettes5
Direct Health Effects of E-Cigarettes6
Overall Trends in Smoking and E-cigarette Use7
Legislation7
Purpose and Scope
Methods9
Results10
Q1. Is the use of e-cigarettes an effective cessation aid for smokers?
Q2. Does the use of e-cigarettes in non-smoking youth and young people increase the likelihood of smoking initiation?
Q3. Are there health risks associated with the exposure to secondhand vapour from e-cigarettes?23
Net Impact of E-Cigarettes
References
Appendix A: Report Summary (August 2018)41
Appendix B: Funding Sources
Glossary

Main Messages

What is the Issue?

- E-cigarettes are battery-operated devices that electronically heat a solution that may contain nicotine to create an inhalable aerosol.
- While there is interest among smokers that e-cigarettes may assist with cessation, there is also concern that e-cigarette use may lead youth to start smoking.

What was the Aim of the Report?

• The report addresses whether: the use of e-cigarettes is an effective cessation aid for smokers; the use of e-cigarettes in non-smoking youth and young people increases the likelihood of smoking initiation; and, there are health risks associated with the exposure to secondhand vapour from e-cigarettes.

Methods

- This report expands on two recent Public Health Ontario e-cigarettes evidence summaries.
- Information from a 2018 comprehensive review by the National Academies of Science, Engineering and Medicine (NASEM), additional reviews published in the past 5 years, and primary literature published following the NASEM search cut-off (Aug 2017) are included.

What are the Key Findings?

- There is limited evidence that e-cigarettes may be effective aids to promote smoking cessation.
- E-cigarette use is associated with increased risk of ever smoking, and increased frequency and intensity of subsequent smoking among youth and young adults. Interpreting these associations is complicated by the existence of common risk factors that influence e-cigarette use and subsequent smoking initiation.
- E-cigarette use increases airborne concentrations of particulate matter, nicotine and other toxicants in indoor environments compared with background levels.
- Modelling studies assessing population net impacts are limited by the uncertainties of the
 assumed harms and benefits associated with e-cigarettes, but highlight the importance of
 encouraging smokers to quit and discouraging youth exposure to tobacco and nicotine. The
 emergence of new e-cigarette products provides additional uncertainties. Further research is
 required to assess the harms and benefits of e-cigarette use, including dual use among those
 who do not quit smoking.

Executive Summary

Context

- E-cigarettes are battery-operated devices that electronically heat a solution to create an inhalable aerosol. Compared to combustible cigarettes, e-cigarettes produce less chemicals and at lower levels. E-cigarettes do not contain tobacco, and do not involve burning or produce smoke. However, e-cigarette aerosol contains a number of chemicals with known toxicity (e.g., formaldehyde, acrolein).
- Jurisdictions across the world are seeking to further reduce population smoking rates. For ecigarettes, this includes achieving a regulatory balance regarding the possibility that some groups may experience harm (e.g., youth initiation of smoking) and the possibility that some groups may experience benefits (e.g., adult smokers who quit or reduce smoking).
- This report expands upon two recent time-sensitive Public Health Ontario (PHO) technical requests examining the evidence for three questions. The first request (June 2018) summarized review-level evidence; the second (August 2018) summarized both review-level and primary literature, and included a review of the findings by five tobacco scientists.

Research Question

- The objective of this report is to summarize the most up-to-date research evidence to answer three questions related to e-cigarettes:
 - o Is the use of e-cigarettes an effective cessation aid for smokers?
 - Does the use of e-cigarettes in non-smoking youth and young people increase the likelihood of smoking initiation?
 - Are there health risks associated with the exposure to secondhand vapour from ecigarettes?

Methods

 The main sources of evidence for this narrative report included: a comprehensive report from National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM), reviews published in the past 5 years, milestone articles identified by tobacco scientists and primary literature published following the NASEM search cut-off (Aug 2017). Relevant consensus statements from the SFO-SAC (2016) report are also included. • PHO Library Services conducted systematic database searches for primary studies (from August 2017 to July 2018) for each of the three specific questions and to identify articles to assess the net population impact of e-cigarettes.

Key Messages

Question 1 – Effectiveness of E-Cigarettes as Cessation Aid

- The NASEM report concluded that there is limited evidence that e-cigarettes may be effective aids to promote smoking cessation.
- More recent evidence from RCTs and observational studies do not provide support for ecigarettes as an effective cessation aid.
- There needs to be more research on the effectiveness of e-cigarettes (with or without nicotine) as a smoking cessation aid and to identify groups for which e-cigarettes may be more effective.
 Further research is also required on the health effects of concurrent use of e-cigarettes and smoking (i.e., dual use).

Question 2 – E-Cigarettes and Smoking Initiation in Youth/Young Adults

- The NASEM report concluded that e-cigarette use was associated with an increased risk of ever smoking, and increased frequency and intensity of subsequent smoking among youth and young adults. There was limited evidence that e-cigarette use increased the duration of subsequent smoking.
- Other reviews were consistent with the findings of the NASEM report. In the most recent literature, all included primary studies suggested that e-cigarette use is associated with subsequent smoking initiation among youth and young adults. Interpreting these associations is complicated by the existence of common risk factors that influence e-cigarette use and subsequent smoking initiation.
- More research is needed on the trajectory of e-cigarette use and smoking in those with little or no smoking experience, including: how different e-cigarette product characteristics (e.g., flavouring, nicotine levels, product design) are associated with different risks of e-cigarette use and smoking initiation and progression; and, the influence of social media and social exposure, especially among those with high use of social media who are also susceptible to smoking.

Question 3 – Health Risks of Secondhand Exposure to E-cigarette

Vapour

- The NASEM report concluded that e-cigarette use increases airborne concentrations of
 particulate matter, nicotine and other toxicants (e.g., propylene glycol, glycerol, VOCs,
 carbonyls, and some heavy metals) in indoor environments compared with background levels.
 Compared with combustible cigarettes, secondhand exposure to e-cigarette aerosol has lower
 levels of many substances (e.g., nicotine, particulates), but some exposures may be higher (e.g.,
 some metals).
- The most recent literature examining e-cigarette aerosol emissions in real-world, simulation and modelling studies observed variability in the levels of particulate matter due to various environmental conditions such as room size, the number of active e-cigarettes/users, the type of e-cigarette being used, and the users' behaviour.
- Neither the NASEM report nor the subsequently published literature included studies addressing exposures in outdoor locations.
- More research is needed on health risks from exposure to e-cigarette secondhand aerosol emissions, as well as what happens to aerosol emissions in various indoor and outdoor environments.

Net Impacts

- NASEM's and subsequent modelling studies have endeavoured to assess net impacts. Overall, existing models highlight the importance of encouraging smokers to quit and discouraging exposure to tobacco and nicotine by youth. However, due to the uncertainties of the assumed harms and benefits associated with e-cigarettes, the modelling outcomes need to be interpreted with caution. There is a need for more accurate, detailed and up-to-date inputs into models.
- Recent scans show that the regulatory environment influences the impact of e-cigarettes with use being lower in a more regulated compared to a less regulated environment. However, this is a dynamic relationship with a large number of potential other factors that influence the use of e-cigarettes beyond the regulatory environment.
- Further research is required to assess the harms and benefits of e-cigarette use, including dual use among those who do not quit smoking. This includes understanding changes in, and reasons for, use of e-cigarettes particularly as the products and the marketplace are rapidly evolving.

Background and Context

Introduction

The emergence of e-cigarettes poses competing challenges regarding their potential health impacts at a population level. While there is interest among smokers that e-cigarettes may assist with cessation, there is also concern that e-cigarette use may lead youth to start smoking. The intent of this report is to summarize the evidence for both of these possibilities.

What Are E-Cigarettes

E-cigarettes are battery-operated devices that electronically heat a solution to create an inhalable aerosol.¹ This solution, also known as 'e-liquid' or 'e-juice', is commonly made up of propylene glycol or glycerine, water, flavourings and nicotine (although many liquids do not contain nicotine).¹ While the main constituents such as propylene glycol and flavourings are generally considered safe for ingestion, the risks associated with their inhalation are unknown.^{2,3} E-cigarette aerosol has been found to contain: propylene glycol, glycerol, flavours, carbonyl compounds, volatile organic compounds (VOCs), metals, and nicotine.^{4,5}

E-cigarettes can take the form of: 'cigalikes' that look like typical cigarettes and can be disposable or reusable with disposable solution cartridges; 'tank systems' that are refillable with solution and do not resemble a typical cigarette; and 'variable power e-cigarettes' systems of variable appearance on which the user can control and change the electronic output.¹ E-cigarettes are also commonly referred to as 'vape pens', 'hookah pens' or 'e-hookah' among youth.^{6,7}

Rapid Evolution of E-cigarettes

E-cigarette devices available in the market have rapidly evolved since they were first introduced in the early 2000s.⁸⁻¹⁰ Over the years, e-cigarettes have evolved from simple electronic devices that closely resembled the traditional cigarette to more complex devices that come in different shapes and sizes, with enhanced features that allow adaptation and customization through changes in device configuration and components.^{8,11} Attempts have been made to characterize their basic design features including key components, materials used, nicotine content, and performance variability in terms of efficacy of vaporization, consistency of nicotine delivery, and puff volume to help standardize their design and regulate them.^{8,12-14}

Newer versions of e-cigarettes, such as JUUL, incorporate nicotine salts in a novel product design.¹⁵ These more recently available products have a higher nicotine content, have become immensely popular with users, particularly among youth, and account for a major portion of the e-cigarette market share in the US at this time.¹⁵⁻¹⁸ The e-cigarette industry is diverse and comprises many different companies, most of whom are not affiliated with any cigarette companies.¹⁹ Transnational tobacco companies however have entered the e-cigarette market by buying smaller e-cigarette manufacturers or selling similar products of their own.¹⁹⁻²³ There is also a wide range of variation in terms of the framing of messaging and promotion related to e-cigarette products. For example, while some companies promote a complete switch to e-cigarettes, others are encouraging dual use.^{19,24} Besides the availability of e-cigarette devices at retail outlets such as convenience stores, tobacconist shops, vape shops/cafes/lounges, etc., a major share of the marketing, sales and promotion of these devices is done through online websites and social media.^{25,26} With the recent federal legislative changes (*Tobacco and Vaping Products Act*) that allow nicotine-containing vaping products to be sold to adults, and with the emergence of new products using nicotine salts, it is anticipated that the e-cigarette market in Canada will undergo rapid transformation.²⁷

Direct Health Effects of E-Cigarettes

Compared to combustible cigarettes, e-cigarettes produce less chemicals and at lower levels.⁴ Ecigarettes do not contain tobacco, and do not involve burning or produce smoke.⁴ Many of the toxic and cancer-causing chemicals in tobacco and tobacco smoke form when tobacco is burned.⁴ Switching completely from smoking cigarettes to e-cigarettes will reduce an individual's exposure to many toxic and cancer-causing chemicals.⁴

However, e-cigarette aerosol contains a number of chemicals with known toxicity (e.g., formaldehyde, acrolein).⁴ Although the health effects of e-cigarettes are uncertain, long-term exposure to the e-cigarette vapour may be harmful to health.⁴ Exposure to e-liquids, including accidental ingestion, eye contact, or skin exposure can also lead to adverse health effects.⁴

Nicotine is approved for use in existing smoking cessation aids such as patches and gum. As of May 2018, nicotine can be legally present in vaping products in Canada. Nicotine is an addictive substance and e-cigarette use could result in symptoms of dependence.⁴ Children and youth are especially susceptible to the negative effects of nicotine including addiction.⁴ In addition, nicotine is known to alter brain development and can affect memory and concentration.⁴

Many Canadian smokers use e-cigarettes while continuing to smoke. However, many individuals with 'dual use' do not reduce their exposure to harmful chemicals due to continued smoking;⁵ individuals need to completely quit smoking to ensure that they reduce their health risks while using e-cigarettes.⁴

Overall Trends in Smoking and E-cigarette Use

Systems for monitoring smoking trends rely on population survey data, which take time to collect, process, and release, such that data cited may not reflect the most recent trends in this rapidly changing environment.¹⁵Nevertheless, the percentage of Canadians aged 15 and older who reported daily or non-daily smoking of combustible cigarettes has declined over time, from 25.2% in 1999 to 13.0% in 2015.²⁸ Smoking prevalence in Ontario is below the national average, and declined over time from 23.3% in 1999 to 11.3% in 2015.²⁸ The decline in smoking prevalence was most pronounced among Canadian youth aged 15-19 and least pronounced among adults over 45.²⁸ Similar trends were noted at the provincial level in Ontario.²⁸

The decreased prevalence of smoking in Ontario over the past two decades appears to be mainly due to decreased rates of smoking initiation. The prevalence of ever smokers has declined markedly over the past two decades, whereas the prevalence of former smokers (past month) was relatively constant.²⁹

The prevalence of past month e-cigarette use reported by Canadians aged 15 and older was 3.2% in 2015; the prevalence in Ontario was slightly lower at 2.7%. In all age groups, prevalence of past month e-cigarette use increased from 2013 to 2015.²⁸ Nationally, prevalence was highest among youth (15-19 years) and young adults (20-24 years), where 6.3% of youth and young adults reported the use of e-cigarettes (2015) in the past month (provincial estimates are unavailable).²⁸ Of note, the decline in smoking prevalence significantly preceded the rise in e-cigarette use, and trends in e-cigarette use are lacking for some populations.

Ontario-specific data was only available for e-cigarette use in the past year (vs. past month), where youth and young adults are also reporting the highest e-cigarette use of all age groups. The CAMH Monitor estimates that in 2016, 20% of Ontario young adults (18-24 years) used e-cigarettes in the past year.³⁰ The Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey (OSDUHS) estimates that in 2017, 18% of Ontario youth (grades 7-12) used e-cigarettes in the past year.³¹

Dual use is common. In 2015, 62.8% of Canadians who reported using e-cigarettes in the past 30 days also were current smokers.²⁸ Canadian trend data on dual use is not available.

Legislation

Jurisdictions across the world are seeking to further reduce population smoking rates. E-cigarette related policies aim to achieve a regulatory balance, considering e-cigarettes may assist with cessation among adult smokers, but may lead youth to start smoking.^{5,19,32,33}

Prior to 2018, only e-cigarettes that did not contain nicotine and that made no health claims were legal in Canada. Under the *Food and Drugs Act*,³⁴ market authorization was needed for e-cigarettes containing nicotine or those that made a health claim.³⁵ Although no product received authorization, nicotine containing e-cigarettes still found their way into the Canadian market.³⁶

Bill S-5, which received Royal Assent in May 2018, establishes a new legislative framework for regulating vaping products in Canada.³⁷ Under this framework, e-cigarettes and other vaping products are classified into two main categories based on whether they are used for recreational or therapeutic purposes.⁴ E-cigarettes (with and without nicotine) that do not make any health claims are defined as 'recreational products' and regulated under the federal *Tobacco and Vaping Products Act* (*TVPA*).^{32,38} The TVPA regulates the manufacture, sale, labeling and promotion of vaping products separate from tobacco products.³² 'Therapeutic' e-cigarettes that may be used to treat nicotine dependence and allowed to make health claims are regulated under the more stringent *Food and Drugs Act*.³⁹ As of June 2018, no 'therapeutic' e-cigarette has been licenced in Canada.⁴

In addition to federal regulations, several provinces in Canada have enacted their own provincial legislation to further regulate the use, sale, and promotion of e-cigarettes.⁴⁰ On September 27th, 2018 the Government of Ontario introduced *Bill 36* that makes amendments to the e-cigarette provisions under the *Smoke-Free Ontario Act, 2017*.⁴¹ These regulations have been proposed to come in to force on October 17th, 2018⁴² and will replace the *Smoke-Free Ontario Act, 2006* and the *Electronic Cigarettes Act, 2015*.^{43,44}

Purpose and Scope

The objective of this report is to summarize the most up-to-date research evidence to answer three specific e-cigarette questions:

- 1. Is the use of e-cigarettes an effective cessation aid for smokers?
- 2. Does the use of e-cigarettes in non-smoking youth and young people increase the likelihood of smoking initiation?
- 3. Are there health risks associated with the exposure to secondhand vapour from e-cigarettes?

This report expands upon two recent time-sensitive PHO technical requests examining the evidence to answer the above questions. The first request (June 2018) summarized review-level evidence, and the second request (August 2018) summarized both review-level and primary literature and included a review of the findings by five tobacco scientists (See Appendix A).

For the first request (June 2018), tobacco scientists were consulted for seminal publications and a rapid review of reviews was completed. One 2018 comprehensive review of the evidence by the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM), was identified and served as the basis for the response to all three questions.⁵ A non-systematic and less comprehensive overview by Public Health England (PHE, 2018) was also identified and findings were noted where relevant.⁴⁵ The second request (August 2018) expanded the search to include recent primary articles published since the NASEM searches were completed (August 2017). The current report provides a more detailed description of the evidence that was summarized in the second request.

Beyond addressing smoking and e-cigarette use in youth and young adults, it was not feasible to include consideration of impacts on population sub-groups.

Methods

The main sources of evidence included: NASEM; reviews published in the past 5 years; seminal articles identified by tobacco scientists; and primary literature published following the NASEM search cut-off (Aug 2017). Ovid MEDLINE, Embase, CINAHL, and PsycINFO databases were searched for primary studies from August 2017 to July 2018. PHO Library Services conducted systematic database searches for each of the three specific questions and to identify articles to assess the net population impact of e-cigarettes. Relevant consensus statements from the SFO-SAC (2016) report were also included, where appropriate.

Peer-reviewed published articles were eligible if they presented findings from any study design, or synthesis of existing literature. For each e-cigarette question, PHO staff screened titles and abstracts and also full-text versions of retrieved articles for inclusion. Primary studies and reviews that were already included in the NASEM report were excluded. For all included reviews and primary studies, PHO staff extracted relevant data from each article and summarized the content. Content was reviewed by senior members of the team. Quality appraisal of systematic review-level literature was performed. Similar to NASEM, industry sponsorship was assessed (i.e., funding sources and conflict of interest) (Appendix B). With the exception of any modelling studies, articles were not excluded for any of these reasons.

To prepare the August 2018 technical request and this narrative report, the authors were guided by the following principles: consistency or inconsistency with evidence in NASEM, consistency or inconsistency in direction of the evidence across studies, study design and volume of evidence.

Results

Q1. Is the use of e-cigarettes an effective cessation aid for smokers?

Ontario context and Cessation trends

The proportion of smokers who intended to quit has remained stable over the past decade with 59.5% of Ontario smokers aged 18 and older intending to quit in the next six months in 2016.⁴⁶ The proportion of smokers trying to quit has also remained stable over the past decade. In 2016, 42.6% of Ontario smokers aged 18 and older made one or more quit attempts in the past year.⁴⁶

Despite the high proportion of quit intentions and attempts, quit rates remain low. The adjusted annualized quit rate is defined as the number of past-year smokers who reported they quit for at least 30 days, adjusted for the estimated relapse rate for the following year. Based on self-reported smoking and quit rates, Ontario's adjusted recent quit rate was 1.7% in 2014; essentially unchanged from 1.8% in 2007.⁴⁶

Across Canada, 33.5% of current smokers reported using e-cigarettes as a quit aid in 2015, up from 22.9% in 2013.²⁸ In 2015, 62.8% of Canadians who reported using e-cigarettes in the past 30 days also reported that they smoked combustible cigarettes on a daily or non-daily basis, indicating high prevalence of dual use.²⁸

SFO-SAC Statement

The SFO-SAC (2016) authors stated that "The effectiveness of e-cigarettes as a cessation aid is unclear. There needs to be more research on the effectiveness of e-cigarettes (with or without nicotine) as a smoking cessation device."⁴⁷

NASEM

EVIDENCE STATEMENTS

The 2018 NASEM report provides a summary of the current state of knowledge about the health risks and benefits of e-cigarette use and concluded:

- *"Conclusion 17-1. Overall, there is limited evidence that e-cigarettes may be effective aids to promote smoking cessation.*
- Conclusion 17-2. There is **moderate evidence** from randomized controlled trials that e-cigarettes with nicotine are more effective than e-cigarettes without nicotine for smoking cessation.

- Conclusion 17-3. There is **insufficient evidence** from randomized controlled trials about the effectiveness of e-cigarettes as cessation aids compared with no treatment or to Food and Drug Administration-approved smoking cessation treatments.
- Conclusion 17-4. While the overall evidence from observational trials is mixed, there is moderate evidence from observational studies that more frequent use of e-cigarettes is associated with an increased likelihood of cessation."⁵

NASEM SYNTHESIS SUMMARY

The NASEM (2018) report notes a limited number, size, and quality of studies examining the effectiveness of e-cigarettes as a cessation aid. NASEM considered different study types in turn. Two meta-analyses pooled the same two RCTs assessing the effectiveness of nicotine-containing e-cigarettes versus non-nicotine placebo e-cigarettes. Both meta-analyses observed increases in smoking cessation with relative risks ranging from 2.03 to 2.29.⁵ Whether the meta-analyses' results were statistically significant was dependent on how the missing data in the RCTs were addressed.⁵ The NASEM report noted limitations of the RCTs' design including: participants not limited to smokers wanting to quit; using early e-cigarette models with low nicotine content and poor battery life; and, low levels of behavioural supports (e.g., instruction on proper use).

In addition to the two e-cigarette RCT studies, NASEM considered additional indirect evidence from RCTs assessing non-e-cigarette nicotine replacement products as cessation aids. Based on the direct evidence from the two e-cigarette RCT studies and the additional indirect evidence, NASEM concluded that there was moderate evidence that e-cigarettes with nicotine are more effective than e-cigarettes without nicotine for smoking cessation.

Observational studies found statistically significant increases in cessation with e-cigarette use. Daily or very frequent e-cigarette use may be associated with cessation while intermittent or less frequent use may not.⁵ However, interpreting these studies is complicated because important factors that may affect the cessation success of e-cigarettes are not always accounted for in the analysis. Potential confounding factors include: self-selection; the e-cigarette product (e.g., type of device, nicotine content and delivery, flavourings or other contents of the e-liquid); pattern of current use (e.g., frequency of use, duration of use); and user characteristics (e.g., motivation for e-cigarette use, quit attempt history, nicotine dependence, prior history of e-cigarette use, demographics and smoking history).⁵ Based on the biological plausibility and the strong, consistent body of evidence from higher-quality observational studies published more recently compared to earlier studies, the NASEM report concluded that there was moderate evidence from observational studies are more subject to biases and the limited evidence from RCTs, NASEM's overall conclusion was that there was limited evidence that e-cigarettes may be effective aids to promote smoking cessation.

The NASEM report highlighted two related key public health questions. First, how does the effectiveness of e-cigarettes compare to cessation aids of known effectiveness? Only one trial was available and it showed no statistically significant difference in quit rates comparing e-cigarette use to a nicotine patch. The second is: does availability of e-cigarettes induce more smokers to try to quit?

Recent literature

The PHO librarian assisted search identified 996 articles since the NASEM search, of which one systematic review and meta-analysis,⁴⁸ one systematic review⁴⁹ and 28 primary studies⁵⁰⁻⁷⁷ were included. All studies examined the effectiveness of e-cigarette use as a cessation aid and/or harm reduction. Cessation is the process of stopping the use of any tobacco product, with assistance, also called "quitting".^{78,79}

Harm reduction involves strategies to reduce harm caused by continued tobacco/nicotine use; for example, reducing the number of cigarettes smoked, or switching to different brands or products (e.g., potentially reduced exposure products (PREPs) and smokeless tobacco).⁷⁸ At the current time, it is unknown whether a reduction in harm occurs with dual use. Although e-cigarettes pose less risk to an individual than smoking, there is no available evidence whether or not long-term e-cigarette use among smokers (dual use) changes morbidity and mortality compared with those who only smoke.⁵ NASEM further notes that: "due to the health risks of combustible tobacco smoke from even low levels of use, e-cigarette use among those who continue to smoke (i.e., dual use) may only confer benefits if dual use is merely a transitional state, after which a user transitions completely to e-cigarettes (i.e., quits combustible tobacco cigarettes)."⁵

Examples of smoking cessation outcomes included: 7 day and 30 day point prevalence abstinence, quit attempts, and biochemical validation (i.e., carbon monoxide and cotinine). Examples of harm reduction outcomes included change in smoking status (i.e., daily to occasional smoker), reduction in cigarette consumption, and smoking frequency in the past 30 days. The greatest proportion of studies was from the USA, ^{49,51,54-56,58-61,64,66,67,70-77} five were from European Union countries, ^{62,63,65,68,69} and there was one study each from South Korea, ⁵⁷ China, ⁵³, the UK⁵⁰ and Canada. ⁵² Among the primary studies, three were randomized control trials (RCT), ^{63,67,74} 12 were longitudinal (often prospective cohort studies), ^{52-54,59,61,64,69,71-73,76,77} three were time series, ^{50,51,75} two were pre-post, ^{56,60} and eight were cross-sectional studies. ^{55,57,58,62,65,66,68,70}

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

The literature search retrieved two systematic reviews analyzing the effectiveness of e-cigarettes for smoking cessation and/or reduction results. The relevant findings from the Public Health England (PHE) 2018 overview are noted below as well.

A systematic review and meta-analysis conducted by Liu et al. (2018) included 14 publications: three RCTs, seven observational studies, and four online surveys.⁴⁸ Two of the three RCTS were already included in the NASEM report and the third RCT was not on e-cigarettes. The rest of the included studies were from 2014 or earlier, therefore this systematic review is analysing older studies.⁴⁸ Overall, the

authors found that e-cigarettes were effective for smoking reduction.⁴⁸ There were no significant differences in carbon monoxide levels before and after e-cigarettes use. The authors concluded that e-cigarettes are moderately effective for smoking reduction and cessation, which is in-line with NASEM's conclusions of moderate evidence from observational studies that e-cigarettes increase the likelihood of smoking cessation.⁴⁸

A systematic review by Gentry, Forouhi and Notley (2018) analyzed e-cigarette effectiveness among vulnerable groups (i.e., mental illnesses, homelessness, substance use, or criminal justice system involvement).⁴⁹ The review included nine studies, five quantitative and four qualitative. The five quantitative were: one secondary analysis of an RCT, one prospective cohort study, and three uncontrolled before and after studies. Of the four qualitative studies, three had focus groups and one was an analysis of online postings. Although four of their quantitative studies' results were clinically and statistically significant, three of them were uncontrolled, with sample sizes less than 30 respondents.⁴⁹ The prospective cohort study did not find cessation differences between users and non-users of e-cigarettes.⁴⁹ The authors' concluded that they were hesitant whether e-cigarettes are effective for smoking cessation within vulnerable populations.⁴⁹

The Public Health England (PHE, 2018) overview identified 14 systematic reviews and seven metaanalyses about e-cigarettes for smoking cessation or reduction.⁴⁵ According to PHE, the systematic review authors indicated more RCT evidence was needed to draw conclusions about the effectiveness of e-cigarettes as a cessation aid. Consistent with NASEM, PHE reported mixed meta-analysis evidence; four were inconclusive, two showed positive results and one showed negative results.⁴⁵ PHE reported discrepancies among the meta-analyses' findings were due to: the types of studies pooled, the diverse range of participants (i.e., current and ex-smokers), varying lengths of follow-up, and differences in how missing data was addressed.⁴⁵ PHE concludes that e-cigarette use alone or combined with other supports (e.g., NRT, support service) may be helpful for quitting in the short term and that more RCTs are needed.

RECENT PRIMARY LITERATURE

Most cessation studies assessed e-cigarettes compared to a placebo, non e-cigarette users or no control. Some studies assessed e-cigarettes compared to proven cessation aids and these studies will be addressed separately.

From the included primary literature, two RCTs compared e-cigarette users with non e-cigarette users and placebo e-cigarettes without nicotine.^{63,74} One RCT found e-cigarettes with nicotine significantly increased smoking cessation and decreased cigarette consumption compared to non e-cigarette users, while the other RCT found no association of e-cigarette use with smoking cessation and cigarette consumption compared to placebo.

More specifically, a study by Masiero et al., (2018), conducted a double-blind RCT to determine the efficacy of e-cigarettes in a study population of 210 highly motivated (to quit) participants that were part of long-term lung cancer screening program.⁶³ The study arms were free e-cigarettes with nicotine (8 mg/mL), free e-cigarette without nicotine (placebo), and a non-intervention control group.⁶³

Participants in all three arms received low intensity telephone counselling. At three months, the percentage of participants that stopped smoking was significantly higher in the e-cigarette nicotine group (25.4%) and non-nicotine placebo e-cigarette group (23.4%) compared to the control group (10.34%) (χ 2(2) = 4.899,p = .044).⁶³ In terms of harm reduction (at three months), the e-cigarette nicotine group had a consumption of 7.7 cigarettes/day that was significantly lower than the control with 10.0 cigarettes/day, but not compared to the placebo group with 9.1 cigarettes/day.⁶³ The rate of reduction between the three groups was not statistically different when participants who discontinued smoking were excluded from the analysis.⁶³

A RCT by Baldassarri et al., (2018) found no significant differences (at 24 week follow-up) between ecigarettes with and without nicotine in terms of smoking status (defined by 7-day point prevalence; abstinence confirmed biochemically). The study population consisted of 40 motivated participants that were recruited primarily from local medical clinics.⁷⁴ A 2nd generation e-cigarette model was used with 24 mg/ml or 0 mg/ml of nicotine (placebo) and all participants were given nicotine patches and financial incentives.⁷⁴ At week 24, the proportion abstinent was: 20% (4/20) e-cigarette with nicotine; and 10% (2/20) placebo (CI= 0.362 to 14.0). Reduced cigarette consumption at week 24 was 5.5 cigarettes/day for e-cigarette with nicotine compared with 8.04 cigarettes/day for the placebo group (CI= -9.9 to 4.9).⁷⁴ Out of the nine participants that quit during the study, three relapsed and those three were all in the placebo group.⁷⁴

Ten longitudinal studies from the primary literature showed mixed results; three studies found a positive association while seven studies found a negative or no association between using e-cigarettes for cessation and/or reduction. ^{52-54,59,61,64,71,72,76,77} The longitudinal studies are summarised below in turn.

Berry et al., (2018) analyzed data from two waves of the United States' national Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health (PATH) Study (2013-2015).⁷² The authors found that users of e-cigarettes had 7.9-fold higher odds of a minimum 30-day cigarette cessation compared to non-users, specifically if second-generation and third-generation e-cigarettes were used.⁷² Compared to non-e-cigarette users, cigarette smokers who began e-cigarette use every day and didn't successfully quit had 5.7 (95% CI: 3.47 to 9.35) times the odds of decreasing their daily cigarette consumption by at least 50%.⁷²

A study by Chen, (2018) using the same data from the PATH study (2013-2015) analyzed which specific e-cigarette flavours were associated with cigarette reduction and cessation.⁷¹ After adjusting for age, gender, past-year quit attempts, and cigarette dependence, e-cigarettes users with one flavour (adjusted odds ratio (AOR) = 2.5) and multiple non-tobacco/non-menthol flavours (AOR = 3.0) were significantly more likely to reduce or quit smoking cigarettes in the past year compared to non e-cigarette users.⁷¹

Mantey et al. (2017) found that among 627 young adults in Texas colleges, those who reported using ecigarettes for cessation had improved odds of cessation at six and 12 month follow-ups, compared to those reporting e-cigarette use for other reasons (e.g., experimenting with new technology, or trying flavours like cherry and bubble gum).⁶⁴ In contrast, seven longitudinal studies found negative associations between e-cigarettes and smoking cessation and or harm reduction.

For example, a study by Zawertailo et al., (2017) analyzed 6,526 participants from 187 primary care clinics across Ontario Canada that were enrolled in the Smoking Treatment for Ontario Patients (STOP) program.⁵² They found e-cigarettes were negatively associated with abstinence after controlling for confounders (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] = 0.706, 95% CI = 0.607–0.820) and negatively associated with abstinence at 6-month follow-up (AOR = 0.502, 95% CI = 0.393–0.640) compared to non e-cigarette users.⁵²

A secondary analysis of a RCT by Rigotti et al., (2018), found participants who reported any use of ecigarettes in the last 3 months were significantly less likely to be biochemically abstinent at 6 months than those not using e-cigarettes (10.1% vs. 26.6%; risk difference, -16.5% [95% CI, -23.3% to -9.6%]).⁶¹ The study population was 1,357 from the Helping HAND 2 study (of hospitalized cigarette smokers who planned to quit smoking), where patients were randomly assigned to post-discharge standard care (control) or sustained care (intervention).⁶¹

Three other studies found similar results and found e-cigarette use was not associated with smoking cessation. ^{53,54,76} Two further studies found that among current cigarette smokers and those that are highly nicotine dependent, e-cigarette use was associated with smoking cessation and harm reduction. However, among former cigarette smokers, never-smokers and non-nicotine dependent smokers, e-cigarette use was associated with greater odds of smoking relapse⁸⁰ and not associated with future smoking cessation and reduced cigarette consumption.^{59,80}

A total of three time series studies showed mixed results; two studies showed that using e-cigarettes was associated with smoking cessation and harm reduction while one study did not find an association.^{50,51,75}

Anic et al. (2017) used data (n=20,270) from the National Adult Tobacco Survey (2012-2014) to estimate the prevalence of cigarette smokers switching to e-cigarettes and smokeless tobacco.⁷⁵ The proportion of recent quitters who reported completely shifting from cigarettes to e-cigarettes increased significantly between the two years (15.3% for 2012 to 25.7% for 2014).⁷⁵

Another time series study by Zhu et al. (2017) used the 2014-15 US Current Population Survey-Tobacco Use Supplement (n=161,054), and found e-cigarette users compared to non-users were more likely to attempt quitting (65.1% vs. 40.1%), and more likely to successfully quit smoking (8.2% vs.4.8%).⁵¹

In contrast, a time series analysis by Beard et al. (2018) of a representative sample of smokers and exsmokers (n=199,483) from England's Smoking Toolkit Study using data from 2006 to 2016, found no association between e-cigarette use (β -0.012, 95% CI: -0.026 to 0.002) and NRT (β 0.015, 95% CI: -0.026 to 0.055) in reducing daily cigarette consumption and temporary abstinence among current smokers.⁵⁰

The search for recent primary literature also identified seven cross-sectional studies; all seven reporting that using e-cigarettes was not associated with smoking cessation.^{55,57,58,62,65,68,70}

For example, a study by Vickerman et al., (2017) compared smoking abstinence rates among 6029 employer and health plan-sponsored quitline registrants who were either: 1) using e-cigarettes to quit smoking, 2) using e-cigarettes for reasons other than quitting, or 3) were not using e-cigarettes.⁵⁵ At 6 month follow-up, callers who used e-cigarettes for reasons other than quitting smoking were less likely to quit than the other groups (adjusted ORs=0.65–0.77).⁵⁵ Overall, however, no significant differences in quit rates were found between those who used e-cigarettes to quit and those who did not use e-cigarettes.⁵⁵

A study by Kulic et al., (2018) used the 2014 Eurobarometer survey of 28 European Union countries to examine the association between being a former smoker and using e-cigarettes.⁶⁵ Among ever smokers, regular use of nicotine e-cigarettes was associated with lower odds of being a former smoker compared to those who had never used e-cigarettes (AOR: 0.43, 95% CI: 0.32 to 0.58).⁶⁵ Additionally, daily use (OR: 0.42, 95% CI: 0.31 to 0.56), occasional use (OR: 0.25, 95% CI: 0.18 to 0.35); and experimentation (OR: 0.24, 95% CI: 0.19 to 0.30) of nicotine e-cigarettes was associated with lower odds of being a former smoker compared with having never used nicotine-containing e-cigarettes.⁶⁵

Only one included study from a survey in France (n=2057) examined dual use and found those using both e-cigarettes and conventional cigarettes had an overall decrease in cigarette consumption.⁶² However, in terms of cessation outcomes, there was no significant difference found for 7-day cessation rates at 6 months for dual users and exclusive tobacco smokers (12.5% versus 9.5%, AOR = 1.2, CI: 0.8 to 1.9).⁶²

Three studies assessed the effectiveness of e-cigarettes for cessation and/or harm reduction without a control group comparison.^{56,60,69} All three studies reported e-cigarette use was associated with cessation and/or harm reduction; however, two studies had small sample sizes (<50) and specific populations (e.g. military personnel).^{56,60}

E-CIGARETTES COMPARED TO NRT/ESTABLISHED TREATMENTS

A total of five studies; one RCT, two longitudinal studies and two cross-sectional studies compared ecigarettes with standard cessation treatments such as nicotine replacement therapy (NRT), pharmacotherapy (e.g., bupropion and varenicline), and counselling (telephone or in-person). Overall, ecigarettes were no better when compared to NRT, financial incentives and pharmacotherapy for smoking cessation or harm reduction.^{59,66-68,73}

The RCT by Halpern et al., (2018) did not find e-cigarettes significantly better than financial incentives (e.g., reward incentive worth \$600 and redeemable deposits) and pharmacological therapies in a study population of 6,006 employees from 54 companies in the USA.⁶⁷ This study had four smoking cessation interventions compared to usual care.⁶⁷ Results showed that the sustained abstinence rates at six months (biochemically confirmed) in the free e-cigarettes group (2.0%), free cessation aids group (1.0%), and usual-care group (0.1%) did not differ significantly.⁶⁷ Only the redeemable deposits (which is a deposit account worth \$600 that is redeemed by participants who become abstinent at the end of the study) had significantly higher abstinent rates for six months (after the target quit date) compared to free e-cigarettes (odds ratio, 2.95; 95% CI, 1.52 to 5.71).⁶⁷

Two longitudinal studies found similar results; e-cigarettes compared to other methods of quitting, such as pharmaceutical aid (RD= 3%, 95% CI: -3% to 10%)⁷³ and nicotine replacement were not significantly different in smoking cessation and reducing cigarette consumption.^{59,73} Additionally, among quit attempters who relapsed, e-cigarettes did not reduce the average daily cigarette consumption (-0.18 cigarettes per day; 95% CI: -1.87 to 1.51).⁷³

Two cross-sectional studies^{66,68} also found similar results where other quitting methods (e.g., medications; programmes delivered in smoking cessation services) were significantly more likely to report abstinence compared to only using e-cigarettes (aPR = 1.76; 95%CI: 1.07 to 2.88).⁶⁸

Question 1 - Summary

- The NASEM report concluded there is limited evidence that e-cigarettes may be effective aids to promote smoking cessation. More recent evidence from RCTs and observational studies do not provide support for e-cigarettes as an effective cessation aid.
- The NASEM report described population-level studies where e-cigarette use was associated with outcomes such as quit attempts, quit attempt success rates, and cessation. Two more recent time series studies from the US and England provide mixed results.
- There needs to be more research on the effectiveness of e-cigarettes (with or without nicotine) as a smoking cessation aid and to identify groups for which e-cigarettes may be more effective. Further research is also required on the health effects of dual use, as well as the longer-term relationships between e-cigarette use and smoking cessation.

Q2. Does the use of e-cigarettes in non-smoking youth and young people increase the likelihood of smoking initiation?

Ontario Context and Youth Trends

In Ontario, the percentage of youth and young adults who were current smokers, defined as past 30-day smoking, has been trending downward in all age groups. In 2003, current smokers comprised 12% of 15-17 year olds, 24% of 18-19 year olds, 30% of 20-24 year olds, and 28% of 25-29 year olds.⁴⁶ By 2014, current smokers comprised approximately 3% of 15-17 year olds, 10% of 18-19 year olds, 17% of 20-24 year olds, and 23% of 25-29 year olds.⁴⁶

About a third (31%) of Canadian youth in grades 6-9 were considered susceptible to smoking in 2014-15, which is defined as "the absence of a firm decision not to smoke".²⁸ Across Canada, 25.7% of youth aged 15-19 reported ever using an e-cigarette in 2015, while only 6.3% reported using e-cigarettes in the past 30 days.²⁸

In Ontario, according to the Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey (OSDUHS), in 2017, 21.6% of Ontario students in grades 7-12 reported ever using an e-cigarette, while 17.5% reported using e-cigarettes in the past year.⁴⁶ Similar estimates are seen with the 2016-17 Canadian Student Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CSTADS), where 17.5% of Ontario students in grades 7-12 reported ever using an e-cigarette.⁸¹

More recent products such as JUUL, which use nicotine salts and have a higher nicotine content, have become immensely popular with users, particularly among youth, and now account for a major portion of the e-cigarette market share in the US.¹⁵⁻¹⁸

Social media metrics, such as the number of posts, views, and likes on a particular topic, may be useful for monitoring new e-cigarette products that have shown a rapid increase in popularity, such as JUUL.¹⁵ In Canada, data from Google trends on e-cigarette and related search terms appear to show that, while searches for the term "cigarette" remained relatively constant, searches for the term "vape" began to increase markedly in 2013, surpassing searches for "cigarette" in 2015. Searches for the term "JUUL" began to increase in 2017, despite the fact that JUUL was not legally available in Canada at that time.²⁸

SFO-SAC Statement

The 2016 SFO-SAC report did not include a statement about e-cigarettes and smoking initiation.

NASEM

EVIDENCE STATEMENTS

The 2018 NASEM report provides a summary of the current state of knowledge about the health risks and benefits of e-cigarette use and concluded:

- Conclusion 16-1: There is **substantial evidence** that e-cigarette use increases risk of ever using combustible tobacco cigarettes among youth and young adults.
- Conclusion 16-2: Among youth and young adult e-cigarette users who ever use combustible tobacco cigarettes, there is **moderate evidence** that e-cigarette use increases the frequency and intensity of subsequent combustible tobacco cigarette smoking.
- Conclusion 16-3: Among youth and young adult e-cigarette users who ever use combustible tobacco cigarettes, there is **limited evidence** that e-cigarette use increases, in the near term, the duration of subsequent combustible tobacco cigarette smoking."⁵

NASEM SYNTHESIS SUMMARY

The context of youth e-cigarette use differs from the preceding section on cessation. In contrast to adult smokers who typically use e-cigarettes with the intention to reduce or quit smoking, enjoyment of flavours and social factors are commonly identified reasons for e-cigarette use in youth and young adults.⁵ NASEM states: "Apart from any inherent direct effects from exposure to e-cigarette aerosols, the use of e-cigarettes among adolescent and young adult never-smokers may affect health by changing combustible tobacco use behaviour."⁵

From the 2018 NASEM report, all studies that examined the association between e-cigarettes and cigarettes suggest a positive association between e-cigarette use and transition from 'never' to 'ever' combustible tobacco cigarette smoking. These associations were of considerable strength and were consistent across various, methodologies, age ranges, research groups, and locations.⁵ The 2018 NASEM report also states that it is important to note that the association between e-cigarette use and smoking may be due to common risk factors (e.g., sensation seeking) rather than the e-cigarette product itself.⁵ However, the 2018 NASEM authors note that the studies they included adjusted for a wide range of covariates including sociodemographic, interpersonal, environmental, and intrapersonal factors.⁵ In addition, e-cigarette use was associated with subsequent ever use of tobacco in youth with fewer risk factors for smoking, as well as those with greater risk factors. The NASEM authors noted that trends in ecological studies did not support that e-cigarette use causes smoking initiation.

Several studies in the NASEM report also found a positive association between 'ever' e-cigarette use and past 30-day smoking status suggesting that e-cigarettes use was associated with a progression in frequency and intensity of tobacco smoking.⁵ Dose-response associations were evident or suggestive in multiple studies. In contrast, no studies were identified where-cigarette use was associated with a lower likelihood or speed of progression of smoking frequency, intensity or duration. This led the authors to discern that it was highly unlikely that the ever smokers in these studies are over-represented by youth just temporarily experimenting at low levels of smoking.⁵ NASEM observed that due to the "strong

Current Evidence on E-Cigarettes: A Summary of Potential Impacts

evidence of plausibility and specificity of a possible causal effect of e-cigarette use on smoking... the committee considered the overall body of evidence of a causal effect of e-cigarette use on transition from never to ever smoking to be substantial."⁵

NASEM noted a number of limitations of their included literature. The first relates to the measurement of e-cigarette and cigarette use. The definitions of smoking initiation vary greatly across studies. Many studies used measurements of 'ever use', meaning that youth could have used e-cigarettes or cigarettes once or twice through experimentation instead of measuring regular use.⁴⁵ Other challenges reported about these studies include the duration of follow-up. Due to the relatively recent introduction of e-cigarettes on the market, NASEM noted it is difficult to determine the extent to which e-cigarette use by non-smoking youth leads to additional and regular long-term smoking as most studies did not have a sufficient follow-up period.⁵

Recent Literature

One review was identified that was not included in the NASEM report. This was found during the initial rapid review-level search. An additional 325 articles were identified from the primary literature search and 11 primary studies were included.^{77,82-91} All primary studies examined the effect of e-cigarette use on smoking initiation among youth and young adults. Nine of the 11 primary studies examined youth (ages 11 to 21),^{82-86,88-91} one focused on young adults (ages 18 to 30),⁸⁷ and one included youth, young adults and adults ages 12 and older.⁷⁷ The greatest proportion of studies were from the US,^{77,84,87,89,91} two were from the UK,^{83,90} while others were from Germany,⁸⁵ Romania,⁸⁶ Netherlands,⁸⁸ and Canada.⁸² The majority of studies were longitudinal studies (often prospective cohort studies),^{77,82,83,85-90} with the exception of two cross sectional studies.^{84,91}

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

The review by Chaterjee et al.,(2016) examined four longitudinal studies and found that e-cigarette use was associated with an increase in combustible cigarette smoking even among youth (mean ages 14 to 21) who were not deemed susceptible to smoking (e.g., adolescents who had earlier indicated a decision they would not smoke).⁹²

The overview by Public Health England (2018) examined studies that looked at e-cigarette use among children and young people and concluded that e-cigarette use among this population is associated with subsequent smoking, but observed from population trends that "e-cigarettes do not appear to be undermining the long-term decline in cigarette smoking in the UK among young people."⁴⁵

RECENT PRIMARY LITERATURE

Consistent with the findings of the review level literature, all included primary studies suggested that ecigarette use is associated with subsequent (cigarette) smoking initiation among youth and young adults.^{77,82-91} This finding was consistent across all study types and jurisdictions.

Among the longitudinal studies that examined youth, those who used e-cigarettes at a baseline were more likely to initiate smoking at follow-up (e.g., six months to two years later) compared to those who did not use e-cigarettes (Odds ratios (OR) ranging from 1.34 to 11.9;^{77,83,88-90} Adjusted odds ratios (AOR)

Current Evidence on E-Cigarettes: A Summary of Potential Impacts

ranging from 2.78 to 5.28;^{82,86} relative risk 2.18⁸⁵). For example, East (2018) examined whether ever ecigarette use and escalation were associated with smoking initiation (ever smoking at follow-up) among baseline never smoking British youth ages 11 to 18 years.⁸³ They found that individuals who were ever ecigarette users (compared to non-users) and those who escalated their e-cigarette use (compared to those who did not) were more likely to initiate smoking (OR: 11.89, 95% CI: 3.56 to 39.72 and OR = 7.89, 95% CI: 3.06 to 20.38, respectively).⁸³

Similarly, a longitudinal US study found that among never smoking young adults (ages 18 to 30), ecigarette use at baseline was associated with smoking initiation at 18 months follow-up (AOR = 6.8, 95% CI: 1.7 to 28.3).⁸⁷

Further, the two cross sectional studies examining youth reported positive relationships between trying e-cigarettes and later smoking. Hines et al., (2017) found that e-cigarettes were the second most commonly reported introductory tobacco/vaping product among US youth (Grades 8 and 11) who had ever used cigarettes (cigarette use was the most common).⁹¹ The second cross sectional study by McCabe et al., (2017) found that early onset of e-cigarettes (i.e., aged 14 or younger) was significantly (p < .001) associated with increased odds of cigarette smoking among US high school seniors;⁸⁴ the adjusted odds of lifetime smoking among early onset e-cigarette users was over 14 times greater than those who had never used e-cigarettes (AOR = 14.2).⁸⁴ A greater percentage of youth who had begun using e-cigarettes in ninth grade or earlier (i.e., early onset) reported current and lifetime cigarette smoking compared to those who began using e-cigarettes later (i.e., 12^{th} grade).⁸⁴

Other factors that have been shown to influence the relationship between e-cigarette use and subsequent smoking initiation include: age,^{83,87} ethnicity,⁸⁷ household income,⁷⁷ susceptible to smoking,^{82,83} propensity to smoke/risk of smoking,⁸⁸ having at least one parent who smokes,⁸³ sensation-seeking,^{85,87} rebelliousness,⁸⁷ psychiatric or substance use disorders,⁷⁷ whether or not friends smoked at baseline,⁹⁰ and whether or not e-cigarettes contained nicotine.⁸⁸

Overall, e-cigarette use appears to be a risk factor for initiating smoking separate from susceptibility or propensity to smoke; e-cigarette use is associated with an increased risk of smoking even among those who are considered to be 'low risk' (i.e., not susceptible or low propensity to smoke). For example, Aleyan et al., (2018) found that the association between e-cigarette use and smoking initiation was stronger among Canadian high school students (grades 9-11) who were not susceptible to smoking (AOR: 5.28, 95% CI: 2.81 to 9.94) compared to those who were susceptible (AOR: 2.78, 95% CI: 1.84 to 4.20).⁸² Similarly, Treur et al., (2018) found that the propensity to smoke (i.e., a construct reflecting personality traits, susceptibility to peer pressure and intention to smoke) was a strong predictor of smoking initiation among Dutch youth ages 11 to 21.⁸⁸ Similar to the findings of Aleyan et al., (2018), they found that this association was especially strong for youth with low propensity to smoke (which is consistent with the 'gateway' hypothesis).⁸⁸ In both studies, while risks of smoking initiation were elevated in low propensity to smoke youth that used e-cigarettes, this group reflected a small proportion of never smokers overall.

An additional study by Conner et al., (2017) found that among British adolescents (ages 13 to 14) the association between 'ever use' of e-cigarettes and initiation of smoking was particularly strong among youth who did not have friends who smoked at baseline (a group usually considered to be less susceptible to smoking initiation) compared with those that had a few (OR: 1.87 95% CI, 1.35 to 2.58) or most friends (OR: 2.99, 95% CI: 1.52 to 5.87) who smoked at baseline.⁹⁰

Additionally, Treur (2018) found that the presence or absence of nicotine within e-cigarettes influences smoking initiation. They found that Dutch youth who (ever) used e-cigarettes with nicotine were nearly 12 times more likely to report smoking 6 months later, compared to those who never used an e-cigarette with nicotine (OR: 11.90 95% CI: 3.36 to 42.11);⁸⁸ these odds were 5.36 (95% CI: 2.73 to 10.52) for e-cigarettes without nicotine.⁸⁸

Question 2 – Summary

- NASEM concluded that e-cigarette use was associated with increased risk of ever smoking, and among these youth and young adults, increased frequency and intensity of subsequent smoking.⁵ There was limited evidence that e-cigarette use increased the duration of subsequent smoking.⁵
- Other reviews were consistent with the findings of the NASEM report.^{45,92} In the most recent literature, all included primary studies suggested that e-cigarette use is associated with subsequent smoking initiation among youth and young adults.^{77,82-91} Interpreting these associations is complicated by the existence of common risk factors that influence e-cigarette use and subsequent smoking initiation.
- Further research is required to better understand the trajectory of e-cigarette and smoking in those with little or no smoking experience. This includes learning how different e-cigarette product characteristics (e.g., design features, flavours) are associated with different risks of e-cigarette and smoking initiation and progression. Researching the influence of social media and social exposure, especially among those with high use of social media who are also susceptible to smoking, is also needed.

Q3. Are there health risks associated with the exposure to secondhand vapour from e-cigarettes?

Ontario Context and Protection Trends

There is no currently available information on secondhand exposure to e-cigarette aerosol for Ontario or Canada. Ontario has very limited data on exposure to secondhand vapour. This includes an absence of population level trends data regarding people's exposure over time to secondhand e-cigarette aerosol emissions.

SFO-SAC Statement

The 2016 SFO-SAC authors state that the "available research suggests that e-cigarettes emit harmful compounds (e.g., volatile organic compounds (VOCs) such as carbonyls and formaldehyde) that may pose a health risk to bystanders, though the magnitude of these emissions is low compared to conventional cigarettes."⁴⁷

NASEM

EVIDENCE STATEMENTS

The 2018 NASEM report provides a summary of the current state of knowledge about the health risks and benefits of e-cigarette use and concluded:

- Conclusion 3-1. There is **conclusive evidence** that e-cigarette use increases airborne concentrations of particulate matter and nicotine in indoor environments compared with background levels.
- Conclusion 18-5. There is **moderate evidence** that secondhand exposure to nicotine and particulates is lower from e-cigarettes compared with combustible tobacco cigarettes.

NASEM SYNTHESIS SUMMARY

Prior to addressing the health impacts of secondhand exposure to e-cigarettes, the NASEM report summarizes what is known about e-cigarette aerosols. The report concludes that exposure to nicotine is highly variable and depends upon product characteristics and how the device is operated. E-cigarette users tend to take puffs of longer duration and larger volume than traditional cigarettes, and these tend to increase with experience. Nicotine intake from e-cigarette devices among experienced adult ecigarette users can be comparable to that from combustible tobacco cigarettes. In addition to nicotine, e-cigarettes emit potentially toxic substances, including metals. Overall, e-cigarette aerosol contains fewer numbers and lower levels of toxicants than smoke from combustible tobacco cigarettes.

The NASEM report based their conclusions regarding secondhand e-cigarette aerosols on nine primary studies conducted in exposure chambers, recreated rooms, real-life settings in homes of e-cigarette

users and vaping conventions. All studies found statistically significant increases of particulate matter and nicotine compared to background levels.⁵ Levels were higher in settings with more than one vaper and were extremely high in studies conducted at vaping conventions.⁵ These exposure studies indicate that e-cigarette vaping contributes to some level of indoor air pollution, which is lower than secondhand exposures from combustible tobacco cigarettes, but is above the smoke-free level recommended by the U.S. Surgeon General and the WHO FCTC.⁵ The effects of these exposures on health remain unknown. Vulnerable populations such as children, pregnant women, the elderly, and individuals with cardiorespiratory diseases may be at special risk.⁵ In addition, the vaping convention studies indicate that e-cigarette aerosol exposure could be substantial for convention workers.⁵

Recent Literature

One review was identified that was not in the NASEM report (Hess et. al., 2016).⁹³ In addition, four primary studies were identified from the search for primary literature. A fifth primary study was provided by a tobacco scientist. Among the primary studies, one examined e-cigarette aerosols in realistic indoor social settings, specifically at a large e-cigarette event/convention;⁹⁴ two were lab-based/simulated room experimental studies measuring exposure to e-cigarette aerosol emissions;^{95,96} and two other studies modelled the excess risk of lung cancer from e-cigarettes.^{97,98}

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

The systematic review by Hess et al., (2016) reached similar conclusions to the 2018 NASEM report.⁹³ The overview by Public Health England (2018) examined passive aerosol exposure, but was not based on a systematic search of the literature and is not reported here.

RECENT PRIMARY LITERATURE

Among the recent primary studies, overall they reported similar findings to the NASEM report. For example, the levels of particulate matter at large indoor e-cigarette events with many users/active e-cigarettes were demonstrated to be high compared to baseline levels.⁹⁴ Volatile organic compounds were identified in air samples collected at the event.⁹⁴

The authors report variability in the levels of particulate matter due to certain environmental conditions, such as room size, the number of active e-cigarettes/users, the type of e-cigarette being used, and the users' behaviour.⁹⁴ In addition, the type of e-cigarette, battery power, e-juice liquid being used, and the users' puff frequency, duration, and volume also contribute to the variability of aerosol emission levels.⁹⁴

For the two studies in controlled laboratory/simulated rooms,^{95,96} the researchers used various methods to measure exposure to e-cigarette aerosol emissions (e.g., nicotine exposure and particulate matter exposure). In one study, a simulated room was created in which the researchers had non-e-cigarette users exposed to e-cigarette aerosol emissions from users. Each participant was exposed for two, two-hour sessions, and with each session using a different type of e-cigarette (i.e., first-generation disposable e-cigarette and second-generation tank-style e-cigarette).⁹⁵ Based on biological measures (i.e., serum cotinine levels), findings showed that non-users experienced systemic nicotine absorption

from acute exposure to secondhand e-cigarette aerosols.⁹⁵ However, the generalizability of this may be limited due to the heterogeneity of the e-cigarette devices, the e-juice liquid being used, and the vapers' behaviour (e.g., puff duration, frequency and volume). A second study in a room-simulating exposure chamber used human volunteers to smoke e-cigarettes and used mannequins as bystanders to measure spatial temporal patterns of exhaled e-cigarette aerosol emissions.⁹⁶ To mimic more realistic e-cigarette vaping sessions, the researchers only defined the vapers' puff frequency (i.e., number and interval length) and didn't instruct the vapers for other behaviours (puff duration, volume, inhalation and exhalation duration).⁹⁶ The particle concentration after each e-cigarette puff/exhalation increased in the same order of magnitude compared to background levels, and then quickly (i.e., a rapid decrease) returned to similar background levels due to evaporation. The greatest concentration of emission was within 0.5 metres compared to no recorded concentration at two metres.⁹⁶

Two simulation studies conducted in Italy measured exposure to secondhand e-cigarette emissions.^{97,98} One study used the excess lifetime cancer risk model among e-cigarette users,⁹⁸ and the other used a model to calculate e-cigarette aerosol emission rates in a simulated room.⁹⁷ The extra 'excess lung cancer risk' for someone exposed to secondhand e-cigarette emissions is five orders of magnitude less than being exposed to secondhand cigarette smoke.⁹⁷ However, the extent of the risk is influenced by the exposure dose (which can depend on the vapers' vaping behaviour, hence the particle concentration) and the toxicity of the particles emitted that passive smokers are exposed to.⁹⁷ While quantifying the actual exposure to secondhand e-cigarette aerosol is challenging, the authors' estimation of the excess lung cancer risk for exposure scenarios for various numbers of years of passive exposure to various numbers of e-cigarette emission data (i.e., particle number, surface area, mass concentration, and size distribution); identifying and quantifying the compounds of the emitted particles; and evaluating the dose-response characteristics of each compound. There are various factors which can influence secondhand e-cigarette aerosol exposure, though exposure to them is relatively less harmful than traditional cigarettes.⁹⁸

Question 3 – Summary

- NASEM concluded that compared to background levels, e-cigarette use increases airborne concentrations of particulate matter, nicotine and other toxicants (e.g., propylene glycol, glycerol, VOCs, carbonyls, and some heavy metals) in indoor environments.⁵
- Compared with combustible cigarettes, secondhand exposure to e-cigarette aerosol has lower levels of many substances (e.g., nicotine, particulates), but some exposures may be higher (e.g., some metals).⁵
- The most recent literature included a study of e-cigarette aerosol emissions in a real-world indoor setting,⁹⁴ indoor lab/room simulated studies,^{95,96} and modelling studies.^{97,98} Across studies, there is variability in the levels of particulate matter due to various environmental conditions such as room size, the number of active e-cigarettes/users, the type of e-cigarette

being used (e.g., first generation, second generation and voltage type), and the users' behaviour (e.g., puff frequency, duration, volume).⁹⁴⁻⁹⁷

- Neither the NASEM report nor the subsequently published literature included studies addressing exposures in outdoor locations.
- The included literature reports that levels of indoor air pollution from e-cigarettes may be harmful to bystanders' health, in particular those who are exposed for prolonged periods of time (e.g., in a workplace setting). More research is needed on health risks from exposure to e-cigarette secondhand aerosol emissions, as well as more information on what happens to the aerosol emissions in various indoor (e.g., in multi-unit housing or adjoining rooms) and outdoor environments (e.g., patios, public spaces).

Net Impact of E-Cigarettes

The net impact of e-cigarettes at a population level will depend on their intrinsic harm (both direct and through second hand exposure), as well as on their combined effects on the initiation and cessation of smoking, and the propensity to sustain smoking among dual users. This section endeavours to address the net impacts of e-cigarettes at the population level considering some of these factors.

As noted in the background section of this report, the percentage of Canadians aged 15 and older who reported daily or non-daily smoking of combustible cigarettes has declined over the past 10 years or more. This decline has been observed in Ontario²⁸ and appears to be mainly due to decreased rates of smoking initiation. Whereas the prevalence of ever smokers has declined markedly over the past two decades, the prevalence of former smokers (past month) was relatively constant.²⁹

In contrast, as noted also in the background section, the prevalence of e-cigarette use has increased substantially in recent years. For example, e-cigarette use (past-30 day use) by Canadian youth aged 15-19 increased from 2.6% in 2013 to 6.3% in 2015, while in adults aged 45 and older it increased from 1.0% in 2013 to 2.1% in 2015.²⁸ In 2015, 62.8% of Canadians who reported using e-cigarettes in the past 30 days, also reported that they smoked combustible cigarettes on a daily or non-daily basis.²⁸ There is no trend data currently available on dual use.

SFO-SAC Statement

The 2016 SFO-SAC authors state that the "Regulating e-cigarettes to make them preferable to cigarettes and to prevent non- or never-smokers from initiating e-cigarette use may reduce the prevalence of tobacco use in Ontario."⁴⁷

NASEM

The 2018 NASEM report did not include any evidence statements with respect to modelling to assess the possible effects of e-cigarette use at the population level. NASEM did incorporate modelling work, which is included in the synthesis section that follows.

NASEM SYNTHESIS SUMMARY

The NASEM report observed that effects at a population level include the possibility:

- Some groups experiencing harm (e.g., youth who initiate smoking)
- Some groups experiencing benefits (e.g., adult smokers who completely quit or reduce their smoking).

Modelling is dependent on the assumptions used for these two possibilities. As described in preceding sections of this report, these possibilities are not yet clearly known and may change as ongoing research provides more evidence, and as products and the marketplace evolve.

Reflecting the uncertainty regarding the extent of harms and benefits, NASEM conducted a sensitivity analysis involving differing assumptions. Assuming e-cigarettes increase net cessation rates of existing smokers, modelling projects that the use of these products will generate a net public health benefit, at least in the short term. Any harms associated with increased smoking initiation by youth and young adults will take time to manifest. When projected to the long-term (e.g., 50 years), the net public health benefit is substantially less and is negative under some scenarios. Projected net public health harms become negative in the short and long terms if the products do not increase smoking cessation in adults.

Recent Literature

The searches for evidence about the effects of e-cigarettes on overall smoking prevalence and other health effects identified a range of sources including primary modelling studies. The included literature comprised of one evidence-based consensus report⁵, one population time series study,⁵⁰ six non-industry sponsored modelling studies, and three jurisdictional scans. Modelling studies projecting the net effects of e-cigarette use were considered in addition to the modelling work reported in NASEM.^{5,99-104} Bennett's (2012) reporting guidelines for modelling studies were used to guide review of the six papers modelling the health effects of e-cigarettes.¹⁰⁵ Two papers were excluded due to industry sponsorship (tobacco, or tobacco use cessation aids).^{106,107}

RECENT PRIMARY LITERATURE

Overall, the modelling evidence is consistent with NASEM finding the greatest impact to be gained is by encouraging smokers to quit and discouraging exposure to tobacco and nicotine by youth.^{5,99-104} These studies collectively underscore a need for accurate, detailed and up to date inputs, recommending their outcomes be interpreted with caution.^{5,99-104} Outcomes reported consider mortality and life years gained, but do not consider morbidity and disability burden of smoking; for example, consideration of outcome measures such as Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs) may be useful.¹⁰⁴

A single paper projected health costs related to e-cigarette use, assuming e-cigarette use health 'costs' were from 1% to 50% as dangerous as conventional cigarettes.¹⁰³ This study found economic benefits across all possible health categories except among those who never smoked, estimated as a 10% absolute increase in e-cigarette use from never users.¹⁰³ Health costs were also incurred where

increased e-cigarette use accompanied decreased quit intentions, and where young people who had never smoked begin smoking due to having tried e-cigarettes.¹⁰³

The impact of e-cigarettes as a quitting aid and as a potential gateway to smoking may change over time given new alternative nicotine delivery systems (ANDs) and heated tobacco products. It will be important to continue to consider whether products aimed to aid in cessation and also create uptake will produce a net public health benefit or cost.¹⁰⁴

Three recent available jurisdictional comparisons show influence of the regulatory environment on the impact of e-cigarettes with use being lower in more regulated compared to less regulated environments.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ For example, a cross-sectional survey from 14 countries in the International Tobacco Control Policy Evaluation (ITC) Project showed that generally, ever and current use of e-cigarettes was lower in countries with high restrictive e-cigarette policies (ever –use: 7.0% to 49.1%; current use: 0.3% to 3.2%), relative to countries with low restrictive policies (ever-use 37.9% to 66.9%; current use: 4.9% to 16.4%) and moderate policies (ever-use: 9.1% to 63.7%; current use 1.8% to 14.7%).¹⁰⁹ In countries with higher income levels, higher awareness and use of e-cigarettes may be reflective of their being widely available and affordable.¹⁰⁹

Net Impacts – Summary

- NASEM's and subsequent modelling studies have attempted to assess net impacts, but due to the uncertainties of the assumed harms and benefits associated with e-cigarettes, their outcomes need to be interpreted with caution.
- The models highlight the importance of encouraging smokers to quit and discouraging exposure to tobacco and nicotine by youth.^{5,99-104} There is a need for more accurate, detailed and up-to-date inputs into models.
- Recent scans show the regulatory environment influences the impact of e-cigarettes with use being lower in a more regulated compared to a less regulated environment.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ However, this is a dynamic relationship with a large number of potential other factors that influence the use of e-cigarettes beyond the regulatory environment.
- Further research is required to assess the harms and benefits of e-cigarette use, including dual use among those who do not quit smoking. For example, understanding changes in, and reasons for, use of e-cigarettes particularly as the products and the marketplace are rapidly evolving.¹¹¹

References

1. McNeill A, Brose L, Calder R, Hitchman S, Hajek P, McRobbie H. E-cigarettes: an evidence update. A report commissioned by Public Health England [Internet]. London, UK: Public Health England; 2015 [cited 2016 Dec 3]. Available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457102/Ecigarettes_a n_evidence_update_A_report_commissioned_by_Public_Health_England_FINAL.pdf

2. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Heating flavor chemicals in e-cigarette liquids - supplement to metals in electronic cigarettes aerosol [Internet]. Silver Spring, MD: U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2018 [updated 2018 Jan 11; cited 2018 Jul 30]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/tobaccoproducts/publichealthscienceresearch/research/ucm483627.htm

3. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. CFR - Code of Federal Regulations Title 21 [Internet]. Silver Spring, MD: U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2017 [updated 2017 Apr 1; cited 2018 Jul 30]. Available from: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/cfrsearch.cfm?fr=184.1666

4. Government of Canada. Vaping [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Government of Canada; 2018 [updated 2016 Jun 27; cited 2018 Jul 31]. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/smoking-tobacco/vaping.html#a1</u>

5. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, Health and Medicine Division, Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice, Committee on the Review of the Health Effects of Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems. Public health consequences of e-cigarettes. Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences; 2018. Available from: <u>https://www.nap.edu/read/24952/chapter/1</u>

6. Richtel M. E-cigarettes, by other names, lure young and worry experts. The New York Times [Internet], 2014 Mar 4 [cited 2016 Nov 2]. Available from: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2014/03/05/business/e-cigarettes-under-aliases-elude-the-authorities.html?ref=health&_r=2</u>

7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). CDC's public health grand rounds: e cigarettes: the cutting edge of tobacco control [Internet]. Atlanta, GA: US Department for Health and Human Services; 2015 [cited 2016 Aug 26]. Available from:

https://www.cdc.gov/cdcgrandrounds/pdf/archives/2015/october2015.pdf

8. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. E-cigarette use among youth and young adults: a report of the surgeon general [Internet]. Atlanta, GA: Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2016 [cited 216 Dec 10]. Available from: <u>https://e-cigarettes.surgeongeneral.gov/documents/2016 SGR Full Report non-508.pdf</u>

9. Kaisar MA, Prasad S, Liles T, Cucullo L. A decade of e-cigarettes: limited research & unresolved safety concerns. Toxicology. 2016;365:67-75. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4993660/</u> 10. Consumer Advocates for Smoke Free Alternatives Association. A historical timeline of electronic cigarettes [Internet]. Plattsburgh, NY: Consumer Advocates for Smoke Free Alternatives Association; c2012-2018 [cited 2018 Jul 20]. Available from: <u>http://www.casaa.org/historical-timeline-of-electronic-cigarettes/</u>

11. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Vaporizers, e-cigarettes, and other electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) [Internet]. Silver Spring, MD: U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2018 [updated 2018 Jul 20; cited 2018 Jul 20]. Available from:

https://www.fda.gov/tobaccoproducts/labeling/productsingredientscomponents/ucm456610.htm

12. Brown CJ, Cheng JM. Electronic cigarettes: product characterisation and design considerations. Tob Control. 2014;23 Suppl 2:ii4-10. Available from: <u>https://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/23/suppl_2/ii4.long</u>

13. Goniewicz ML, Kuma T, Gawron M, Knysak J, Kosmider L. Nicotine levels in electronic cigarettes. Nicotine Tob Res. 2013;15(1):158-66. Available from: <u>https://academic.oup.com/ntr/article/15/1/158/1105400</u>

14. Raymond BH, Collette-Merrill K, Harrison RG, Jarvis S, Rasmussen RJ. The nicotine content of a sample of e-cigarette liquid manufactured in the United States. J Addict Med. 2018;12(2):127-31.

15. Huang J, Duan Z, Kwok J, Binns S, Vera LE, Kim Y, et al. Vaping versus JUULing: how the extraordinary growth and marketing of JUUL transformed the US retail e-cigarette market. Tob Control. 2018 [Epub ahead of print]. Available from:

https://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/tobaccocontrol/early/2018/05/31/tobaccocontrol-2018-054382.full.pdf

16. Kavuluru R, Han S, Hahn EJ. On the popularity of the USB flash drive-shaped electronic cigarette Juul. Tob Control. 2018 Apr 13 [Epub ahead of print].

17. JUUL Labs, Inc. US. FAQS- JUUL device basics [Internet]. San Francisco, CA: JUUL Labs, Inc. US; 2018 [cited 2018 Jul 23]. Available from: <u>https://support.juul.com/home/learn/faqs/juul-device-basics</u>

18. Belluz J. Juul, the vape device teens are getting hooked on, explained. Vox Media [Internet], 2018 Aug 22 [cited 2018 Oct 30]. Available from: <u>https://www.vox.com/science-and-health/2018/5/1/17286638/juul-vaping-e-cigarette</u>

19. Levy DT, Cummings KM, Villanti AC, Niaura R, Abrams DB, Fong GT, et al. A framework for evaluating the public health impact of e-cigarettes and other vaporized nicotine products. Addiction. 2017;112(1):8-17. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5079857/

20. Hsu G, Sun JY, Zhu SH. Evolution of electronic cigarette brands from 2013-2014 to 2016-2017: analysis of brand websites. J Med Internet Res. 2018;20(3):e80. Available from: https://www.jmir.org/2018/3/e80/ 21. Czoli CD, Hammond D, White CM. Electronic cigarettes in Canada: prevalence of use and perceptions among youth and young adults. Can J Public Health. 2014;105(2):e97-102. Available from: http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/ciph/article/view/4119/2913

22. Grana R, Benowitz N, Glantz SA. E-cigarettes: a scientific review. Circulation. 2014;129(19):1972-86. Available from: <u>https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.007667</u>

23. Robehmed N. E-cigarette sales surpass \$1 billion as Big Tobacco moves in. Forbes [Internet], 2013 Sep 17 [cited 2018 Jul 20]. Available from: <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/natalierobehmed/2013/09/17/e-cigarette-sales-surpass-1-billion-as-big-</u>

tobacco-moves-in/#45a920c63d6d

24. JUUL Labs, Inc. US. How JUUL Labs is combating underage use of our product [Internet]. San Francisco, CA: JUUL Labs, Inc. US; 2018 [cited 2018 Jul 23]. Available from: https://support.juul.com/home/learn/combating-underage-use

25. Hammond D, White CM, Czoli CD, Martin CL, Magennis P, Shiplo S. Retail availability and marketing of electronic cigarettes in Canada. Can J Public Health. 2015;106(6):e408-12. Available from: http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/view/5105/3215

26. Noel JK, Rees VW, Connolly GN. Electronic cigarettes: a new 'tobacco' industry? Tob Control. 2011;20(1):81.

27. Zochodne G. E-cigarette giant JUUL expanding into Canada, amid controversy in the US. Financial Post [Internet], 2018 Aug 30 [cited 2018 Sept 28]. Available from: <u>https://business.financialpost.com/business/e-cigarette-giant-juul-expanding-into-canada-amid-controversy-in-the-u-s</u>

28. Reid JL, Hammond D, Rynard VL, Madill CL, Burkhalter R. Tobacco use in Canada: patterns and trends [Internet]. 2017 ed. Waterloo, ON: Propel Centre for Population Health Impact, University of Waterloo; 2017 [cited 2018 Oct 30]. Available from: <u>https://uwaterloo.ca/tobacco-use-canada/tobacco-use-canada/tobacco-use-canada-patterns-and-trends</u>

29. Ontario Tobacco Research Unit. Tobacco Informatics Monitoring System [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Ontario Tobacco Research Unit; 2015 [cited 2017 Apr 12]. Available from: <u>http://tims.otru.org/#topics</u>

30. Ialomiteanu AR, Hamilton HA, Adlaf EM, Mann RE. CAMH monitor e-report: substance use, mental health and well-being among Ontario adults, 1977–2015 (CAMH research document series no. 45). Toronto, ON: Center for Addiction and Mental Health; 2016. Available from: http://www.ontla.on.ca/library/repository/ser/309930/1977-2015

31. Boak A, Hamilton HA, Adlaf EM, Mann RE. Drug use among Ontario students, 1977-2017: detailed findings from the Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey (CAMH research document series no. 46). Toronto, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health; 2017. Available from: <u>https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/pdf---osduhs/drug-use-among-ontario-students-1977-2017---detailed-findings-from-the-osduhs.pdf</u>

32. Health Canada. Consultation summary: proposals for the regulation of vaping products. Ottawa, ON: Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada; 2018. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/documents/services/publications/healthy-</u> <u>living/consultation-summary-proposals-regulation-vaping-products/consultation-summary-proposals-regulation-vaping-products.pdf</u>

33. Non-Smoker's Rights Association; Smoking and Health Action Foundation. E-cigarette regulation update [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Non-Smoker's Rights Association; 2018 [cited 2018 Jul 23]. Available from: <u>https://nsra-adnf.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/e-cig-reg-update-march-2018-final.pdf</u>

34. *Food and Drugs Ac*t, RSC 1985, c F-27 as it appeared on 12 December 2016. Available from: <u>http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/f-27/20161212/P1TT3xt3.html</u>

35. Smoking and Health Action Foundation; Non-Smoker's Rights Association. E-cigarette update: Bill S-5. A new legislative framework for e-cigarettes in Canada [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Non-Smoker's Rights Association; 2017 [cited 2018 Nov 2]. Available from: <u>https://nsra-adnf.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2017/02/2017_02_13_e-cig_update_2-final.pdf</u>

36. Czoli CD, Goniewicz ML, Palumbo M, White CM, Hammond D. E-cigarette nicotine content and labelling practices in a restricted market: findings from Ontario, Canada. Int J Drug Policy. 2018;58:9-12.

37. Bill S-5, An Act to amend the Tobacco Act and the Non-smokers' Health Act and to make consequential amendments to other Acts. 1st Sess, 42nd Parl, SC 2018 (Royal Assent 23 May, 2018). Available from: <u>http://www.parl.ca/DocumentViewer/en/42-1/bill/S-5/royal-assent</u>

38. Government of Canada. Vaping [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Government of Canada; 2018 [updated 2018 Jun 27; cited 2018 Jul 23]. Available from: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/smoking-tobacco/vaping.html</u>

39. Food and Drugs Act, RSC 1985, c F-27. Available from: http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/PDF/F-27.pdf

40. Non-Smoker's Rights Association; Smoking and Health Action Foundation. Provincial & territorial ecigarette legislation in Canada (as of 31 March 2018) [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Non-Smoker's Rights Association; 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 6]. Available from: <u>https://nsra-adnf.ca/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2018/04/table-prov-laws-31-march-2018-final.pdf</u>

41. *Smoke-Free Ontario Act, 2017,* SO 2017, c 26, Sched 3. Available from: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/17s26</u>

42. General, O Reg 268/18. Available from: https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/180268

43. *Electronic Cigarettes Act, 2015*, SO 2015, c7, Sched 3. Available from: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/15e07?search=electronic</u>

44. Government of Ontario. Electronic cigarette (vape) rules [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2018 [updated 2018 Jul 5; cited 2018 Jul 23]. Available from: https://www.ontario.ca/page/electronic-cigarette-vape-rules 45. McNeill A, Brose LS, Calder R, Bauld L, Robson D. Evidence review of e-cigarettes and heated tobacco products 2018 [Internet]. London, UK: Public Health England; 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 6]. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/68 4963/Evidence_review_of_e-cigarettes_and_heated_tobacco_products_2018.pdf

46. Schwartz R, O'Connor S, Dubray J. Smoke-Free Ontario Strategy monitoring report [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Ontario Tobacco Research Unit; 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 6]. Available from: <u>https://otru.org/2017-smoke-free-ontario-strategy-monitoring-report/</u>

47. Smoke-Free Ontario Scientific Advisory Committee; Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion. Evidence to guide action: comprehensive tobacco control in Ontario [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2010 [cited 2018 Nov 6]. Available from: <u>http://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/eRepository/Evidence%20to%20Guide%20Action%20-</u> <u>%20CTC%20in%20Ontario%20SFO-SAC%202010E.PDF</u>

48. Liu X, Lu W, Liao S, Deng Z, Zhang Z, Liu Y, et al. Efficiency and adverse events of electronic cigarettes: A systematic review and meta-analysis (PRISMA-compliant article). Medicine. 2018;97(19):e0324. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5959444/

49. Gentry S, Forouhi N, Notley C. Are electronic cigarettes an effective aid to smoking cessation or reduction among vulnerable groups? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative evidence. Nicotine Tobacco Res. 2018 Mar 28.

50. Beard E, Brown J, Michie S, West R. Is prevalence of e-cigarette and nicotine replacement therapy use among smokers associated with average cigarette consumption in England? A time-series analysis. BMJ Open. 2018;8(6):e016046. Available from: <u>https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/8/6/e016046.long</u>

51. Zhu SH, Zhuang YL, Wong S, Cummins SE, Tedeschi GJ. E-cigarette use and associated changes in population smoking cessation: evidence from US current population surveys. BMJ. 2017;358:j3262. Available from: <u>https://www.bmj.com/content/358/bmj.j3262.long</u>

52. Zawertailo L, Pavlov D, Ivanova A, Ng G, Baliunas D, Selby P. Concurrent e-cigarette use during tobacco dependence treatment in primary care settings: association with smoking cessation at three and six Months. Nicotine Tobacco Res. 2017;19(2):183-9.

53. Wu SY, Wang MP, Li WH, Kwong AC, Lai VW, Lam TH. Does electronic cigarette use predict abstinence from conventional cigarettes among smokers in Hong Kong? Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(3). Available from: <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/15/3/400</u>

54. Weaver SR, Huang J, Pechacek TF, Heath JW, Ashley DL, Eriksen MP. Are electronic nicotine delivery systems helping cigarette smokers quit? Evidence from a prospective cohort study of U.S. adult smokers, 2015-2016. PLoS One. 2018;13(7):e0198047. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0198047

55. Vickerman KA, Schauer GL, Malarcher AM, Zhang L, Mowery P, Nash CM. Reasons for Electronic Nicotine Delivery System use and smoking abstinence at 6 months: a descriptive study of callers to employer and health plan-sponsored quitlines. Tob Control. 2017;26(2):126-34.

56. Valentine GW, Hefner K, Jatlow PI, Rosenheck RA, Gueorguieva R, Sofuoglu M. Impact of e-cigarettes on smoking and related outcomes in veteran smokers with psychiatric comorbidity. J Dual Diagn. 2018;14:2-13.

57. Sung B. E-cigarette use and smoking cessation among South Korean adult smokers: a propensity score-matching approach. Asia Pac J Public Health. 2018;30(4):332-41

58. Subialka Nowariak EN, Lien RK, Boyle RG, Amato MS, Beebe LA. E-cigarette use among treatmentseeking smokers: Moderation of abstinence by use frequency. Addict Behav. 2018;77:137-42.

59. Selya AS, Dierker L, Rose JS, Hedeker D, Mermelstein RJ. The role of nicotine dependence in ecigarettes' potential for smoking reduction. Nicotine Tob Res. 2018;20(1):1272-7.

60. Rohsenow DJ, Tidey JW, Martin RA, Colby SM, Eissenberg T. Effects of six weeks of electronic cigarette use on smoking rate, CO, cigarette dependence, and motivation to quit smoking: a pilot study. Addict Behav. 2018;80:65-70.

61. Rigotti NA, Chang Y, Tindle HA, Kalkhoran SM, Levy DE, Regan S, et al. Association of e-cigarette use with smoking cessation among smokers who plan to quit after a hospitalization: a prospective study. Ann Intern Med. 2018;168(9):613-20.

62. Pasquereau A, Guignard R, Andler R, Nguyen-Thanh V. Electronic cigarettes, quit attempts and smoking cessation: a 6-month follow-up. Addiction. 2017;112(9):1620-8.

63. Masiero M, Lucchiari C, Mazzocco K, Veronesi G, Maisonneuve P, Jemos C, et al. E-cigarettes may support smokers with high smoking-related risk awareness to stop smoking in the short run: preliminary results by randomized controlled trial. Nicotine Tob Res. 2018 Sep 19 [Epub ahead of print].

64. Mantey DS, Cooper MR, Loukas A, Perry CL. E-cigarette use and cigarette smoking cessation among Texas college students. Am J Health Behav. 2017;41(6):750-9.

65. Kulik MC, Lisha NE, Glantz SA. E-cigarettes associated with depressed smoking cessation: a crosssectional study of 28 European Union countries. Am J Prev Med. 2018;54(4):603-9.

66. James SA. Electronic nicotine delivery systems and smoking reduction, substitution, and cessation [dissertation]. Oklahoma City, OK: University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center Graduate College; 2017.

67. Halpern SD, Harhay MO, Saulsgiver K, Brophy C, Troxel AB, Volpp KG. A pragmatic trial of ecigarettes, incentives, and drugs for smoking cessation. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(24):2302-10. Available from: <u>https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMsa1715757</u>

68. Gorini G, Ferrante G, Quarchioni E, Minardi V, Masocco M, Fateh-Moghadam P, et al. Electronic cigarette use as an aid to quit smoking in the representative Italian population PASSI survey. Prev Med. 2017;102:1-5.

69. Etter JF. Electronic cigarette: a longitudinal study of regular vapers. Nicotine Tob Res. 2018;20(8):912-22. Available from: <u>https://academic.oup.com/ntr/article/20/8/912/3861935</u>

70. Ekanem US, Cardenas VM, Cen R, Simon W, Chedjieu IP, Woodward M, et al. Electronic nicotine delivery systems and smoking cessation in Arkansas, 2014. Public Health Rep. 2017;132(2):210-9. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5349486/</u>

71. Chen JC. Flavored e-cigarette use and cigarette smoking reduction and cessation - a large national study among young adult smokers. Subst Use Misuse. 2018;53(12):2017-31.

72. Berry KM, Reynolds LM, Collins JM, Siegel MB, Fetterman JL, Hamburg NM, et al. E-cigarette initiation and associated changes in smoking cessation and reduction: the Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health Study, 2013-2015. Tob Control. 2018 Mar 24 [Epub ahead of print].

73. Benmarhnia T, Pierce JP, Leas E, White MM, Strong DR, Noble ML, et al. Can e-cigarettes and pharmaceutical aids increase smoking cessation and reduce cigarette consumption? Findings from a nationally representative cohort of American smokers. Am J Epidemiol. 2018;187(11):2397-404.

74. Baldassarri SR, Bernstein SL, Chupp GL, Slade MD, Fucito LM, Toll BA. Electronic cigarettes for adults with tobacco dependence enrolled in a tobacco treatment program: A pilot study. Addict Behav. 2018;80:1-5.

75. Anic GM, Holder-Hayes E, Ambrose BK, Rostron BL, Coleman B, Jamal A, et al. E-cigarette and smokeless tobacco use and switching among smokers: findings from the National Adult Tobacco Survey. Am J Prev Med. 2018;54(4):5;39-51.

76. Amato MS, Boyle RG, Levy D. E-cigarette use 1 year later in a population-based prospective cohort. Tob Control. 2017;26(e2):e92-6.

77. Young-Wolff KC, Klebaner D, Folck B, Tan ASL, Fogelberg R, Sarovar V, et al. Documentation of ecigarette use and associations with smoking from 2012 to 2015 in an integrated healthcare delivery system. Prev Med. 2018;109:113-8.

78. Cochrane Tobacco Addiction. Glossary [Internet]. London, UK: The Cochrane Collaboration; [cited 2015 Sept 4]. Available from: <u>http://tobacco.cochrane.org/resources</u>

79. Tobacco Free Initiative. Developing and improving national toll-free tobacco quit line services. Geneva, SZ: World Health Organization; 2011. Available from: <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2011/9789241502481_eng.pdf</u>

80. Young-Wolff K, Klebaner D, Folck B, Tan ASL, Fogelberg R, Sarovar V, et al. Documentation of ecigarette use and associations with smoking from 2012 to 2015 in an integrated healthcare delivery system. Prev Med. 2018;109:113-8.

81. Government of Canada. Canadian Student Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Government of Canada; 2018 [updated 2018 Jun 12; cited 2018 Jul 30]. Available from:

https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-student-tobacco-alcohol-drugssurvey.html

82. Aleyan S, Cole A, Qian W, Leatherdale ST. Risky business: a longitudinal study examining cigarette smoking initiation among susceptible and non-susceptible e-cigarette users in Canada. BMJ Open. 2018;8(5):e021080,2017-021080. Available from: https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/8/5/e021080.long. Erratum in: BMJ Open. 2018;8(7):e021080corr1.

83. East K, Hitchman SC, Bakolis I, Williams S, Cheeseman H, Arnott D, et al. The association between smoking and electronic cigarette use in a cohort of young people. J Adolesc Health. 2018;62(5):539-47. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1054-139X(17)30903-5</u>

84. McCabe SE, West BT, McCabe VV. Associations between early onset of e-cigarette use and cigarette smoking and other substance use among US adolescents: a national study. Nicotine Tob Res. 2018;20(8):923-30. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ntr/article/20/8/923/4372210

85. Morgenstern M, Nies A, Goecke M, Hanewinkel R. E-cigarettes and the use of conventional cigarettes. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2018;115(14):243-8. Available from: https://www.aerzteblatt.de/int/archive/article?id=197403

86. Penzes M, Foley KL, Nadasan V, Paulik E, Abram Z, Urban R. Bidirectional associations of e-cigarette, conventional cigarette and waterpipe experimentation among adolescents: A cross-lagged model. Addict Behav. 2018;80:59-64.

87. Primack BA, Shensa A, Sidani JE, Hoffman BL, Soneji S, Sargent JD, et al. Initiation of traditional cigarette smoking after electronic cigarette use among tobacco-naive US young adults. Am J Med. 2018;131(4):443.e1,443.e9.

88. Treur JL, Rozema AD, Mathijssen JJP, van Oers H, Vink JM. E-cigarette and waterpipe use in two adolescent cohorts: cross-sectional and longitudinal associations with conventional cigarette smoking. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33(3):323-34. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5889768/

89. Watkins SL, Glantz SA, Chaffee BW. Association of noncigarette tobacco product use with future cigarette smoking among youth in the Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health (PATH) study, 2013-2015. JAMA Pediatr. 2018;172(2):181-7.

90. Conner M, Grogan S, Simms-Ellis R, Flett K, Sykes-Muskett B, Cowap L, et al. Do electronic cigarettes increase cigarette smoking in UK adolescents? Evidence from a 12-month prospective study. Tob Control. 2017 Aug 17 [Epub ahead of print]. Available from: https://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/27/4/365.long

91. Hines JZ, Fiala SC, Hedberg K. Electronic cigarettes as an introductory tobacco product among eighth and 11th grade tobacco users - Oregon, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017;66(23):604-6. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/66/wr/mm6623a2.htm</u>

92. Chatterjee K, Alzghoul B, Innabi A, Meena N. Is vaping a gateway to smoking: a review of the longitudinal studies. Int J Adolesc Med Health. 2016;30(3):10.1515/ijamh,2016-0033.

93. Hess IM, Lachireddy K, Capon A. A systematic review of the health risks from passive exposure to electronic cigarette vapour. Public Health Res Pract. 2016;26(2):10.17061/phrp2621617. Available from: http://www.phrp.com.au/issues/april-2016-volume-26-issue-2/a-systematic-review-of-the-health-risks-from-passive-exposure-to-electronic-cigarette-vapour/

94. Kaufman P, Dubray J, Soule EK, Cobb CO, Zarins S, Schwartz R. Analysis of secondhand e-cigarette aerosol compounds in an indoor setting. Tobacco Regulatory Science. 2018;4(3):29-37

95. Melstrom P, Sosnoff C, Koszowski B, King BA, Bunnell R, Le G, et al. Systemic absorption of nicotine following acute secondhand exposure to electronic cigarette aerosol in a realistic social setting. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 2018;221(5):816-22.

96. Martuzevicius D, Prasauskas T, Setyan A, O'Connell G, Cahours X, Julien R, et al. Characterisation of the spatial and temporal dispersion differences between exhaled e-cigarette mist and cigarette smoke. Nicotine Tob Res. 2018 Jun 19 [Epub ahead of print]. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ntr/advance-article/doi/10.1093/ntr/nty121/5040053

97. Avino P, Scungio M, Stabile L, Cortellessa G, Buonanno G, Manigrasso M. Second-hand aerosol from tobacco and electronic cigarettes: Evaluation of the smoker emission rates and doses and lung cancer risk of passive smokers and vapers. Sci Total Environ. 2018;642:137-47.

98. Scungio M, Stabile L, Buonanno G. Measurements of electronic cigarette-generated particles for the evaluation of lung cancer risk of active and passive users. J Aerosol Sci. 2018;115:1-11.

99. Levy DT, Borland R, Villanti AC, Niaura R, Yuan Z, Zhang Y, et al. The application of a decisiontheoretic model to estimate the public health impact of vaporized nicotine product initiation in the United States. Nicotine Tob Res. 2017;19(2):149-59. Available from: <u>https://academic.oup.com/ntr/article/19/2/149/2631691</u>

100. Vugrin ED, Rostron BL, Verzi SJ, Brodsky NS, Brown TJ, Choiniere CJ, et al. Modeling the potential effects of new tobacco products and policies: a dynamic population model for multiple product use and harm. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0121008. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0121008

101. Cherng ST, Tam J, Christine PJ, Meza R. Modeling the effects of e-cigarettes on smoking behavior: implications for future adult smoking prevalence. Epidemiology. 2016;27(6):819-26. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5039081/

102. Soneji SS, Sung HY, Primack BA, Pierce JP, Sargent JD. Quantifying population-level health benefits and harms of e-cigarette use in the United States. PLoS One. 2018;13(3):e0193328. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0193328 103. Kalkhoran S, Glantz SA. Modeling the health effects of expanding e-cigarette sales in the United States and United Kingdom: a Monte Carlo analysis. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175(10):1671-80. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4594196/

104. Warner KE, Mendez D. E-cigarettes: comparing the possible risks of increasing smoking initiation with the potential benefits of increasing smoking cessation. Nicotine Tob Res. 2018 Mar 29 [Epub ahead of print].

105. Bennett C, Manuel DG. Reporting guidelines for modelling studies. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2012;12:168. Available from: <u>https://bmcmedresmethodol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2288-12-168</u>

106. Hill A, Camacho OM. A system dynamics modelling approach to assess the impact of launching a new nicotine product on population health outcomes. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 2017;86:265-78. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0273-2300(17)30070-3

107. Levy DT, Borland R, Lindblom EN, Goniewicz ML, Meza R, Holford TR, et al. Potential deaths averted in USA by replacing cigarettes with e-cigarettes. Tob Control. 2018;27(1):18-25. Available from: <u>https://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/27/1/18.long</u>

108. Cho HJ, Dutra LM, Glantz SA. Differences in adolescent e-cigarette and cigarette prevalence in two policy environments: South Korea and the United States. Nicotine Tob Res. 2018;20(8):949-53.

109. Gravely SD. Prevalence of awareness, trial, and use of electronic cigarettes (ECs) among adult current smokers and exsmokers in 14 countries with differing regulations on sales of ECs: cross-sectional findings from the International Tobacco Control Policy Evaluation Project [unpublished].

110. Yong HH, Hitchman SC, Cummings KM, Borland R, Gravely SML, McNeill A, et al. Does the regulatory environment for e-cigarettes influence the effectiveness of e-cigarettes for smoking cessation?: Longitudinal findings from the ITC Four Country survey. Nicotine Tob Res. 2017;19(11):1268-76. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ntr/article/19/11/1268/3061874

111. Huang J, Duan Z, Kwok J, Binns S, Vera LE, Kim Y, et al. Vaping versus JUULing: how the extraordinary growth and marketing of JUUL transformed the US retail e-cigarette market. Tob Control. 2018 May 31 [Epub ahead of print]. Available from: https://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/early/2018/05/31/tobaccocontrol-2018-054382.long

112. Beard E, Brown J, Michie S, West R. Is prevalence of e-cigarette and nicotine replacement therapy use among smokers associated with average cigarette consumption in England? A time-series analysis. BMJ Open. 2018;8(6):e016046. Available from: <u>https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/8/6/e016046.long</u>.

113. International Agency for Reseach on Cancer (IARC). IARC handbooks of cancer prevention, tobacco control, vol 12: methods for evaluating tobacco control policies. Lyon, FR: International Agency for Reseach on Cancer (IARC); 2008. Available from: <u>http://publications.iarc.fr/Book-And-Report-Series/Iarc-Handbooks-Of-Cancer-Prevention/Methods-For-Evaluating-Tobacco-Control-Policies-2008</u>

114. Edwards SA, Bondy SJ, Callaghan RC, Mann RE. Prevalence of unassisted quit attempts in population-based studies: a systematic review of the literature. Addict Behav. 2014;39:512-9.

115. Smith AL, Chapman S, Dunlop SM. What do we know about unassisted smoking cessation in Australia? A systematic review, 2005-2012. Tob Control. 2013;11:1-22.

116. Berg CJ, Schauer GL, Buchanan TS, Sterling K, DeSisto C, Pinsker EA, et al. Perceptions of addiction, attempts to quit, and successful quitting in nondaily and daily smokers. Psychol Addict Behav. 2013;27(4):1059-67. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4030671/</u>

117. Rise J, Kovac V, Kraft P, Moan IS. Predicting the intention to quit smoking and quitting behaviour: Extending the theory of planned behaviour. Br J Health Psychol. 2008;13(Pt 2):291-310.

118. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process. 1991;50(2):179-211.

119. Canadian Cancer Society. About smokers' helpline [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2012 [cited 2015 Jul 27]. Available from: <u>http://www.smokershelpline.ca/about</u>

120. Diemert L, Keller-Olaman S, Schwartz R, O'Connor S, Babayan A. Data standards for Smoke-Free Ontario smoking cessation service providers: core indicators and questions for intake and follow-up of adult respondents [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Ontario Tobacco Research Unit; 2013 [cited 2015 Jun 2]. Available from: http://otru.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/special_data_standards.pdf

121. World Health Organization. Tobacco Free Initiative (TFI): second-hand tobacco smoke [Internet]. Geneva, SZ: World health Organization; 2015; [cited 2015 Jun 12]. Available from: http://www.who.int/tobacco/research/secondhand_smoke/en/

122. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Health topic data guide: smoking status [Internet]. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2014 [updated 2014 Nov 13; cited 2015 Jun 12]. Available from: <u>http://dhds.cdc.gov/guides/healthtopics/indicator?i=smokingstatus</u>

123. Janz T. Health at a glance: current smoking trends [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Government of Canada; 2012 [updated 2012 Jun 19; cited 2015 Jun 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-624-x/2012001/article/11676-eng.htm</u>

124. Health Canada. Health concerns: terminology [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Government of Canada; 2008 [updated 2008 Nov 28; cited 2015 Jun 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hc-ps/tobac-tabac/research-recherche/stat/ctums-esutc_term-eng.php</u>

125. Health Canada. Health concerns: terminology [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Government of Canada; 2014 [updated 2014 Jun 3; cited 2015 Jun 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hc-ps/tobac-tabac/research-recherche/stat/survey-sondage_term-eng.php</u>

126. Statistics Canada. Non-medical determinants of health [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada; 2007 [updated 2007 Dec 12; cited 2015 July 9]. Available from: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-221-x/2007002/defin/4063919-eng.htm</u>

127. Freedman KS, Nelson NM, Feldman LL. Smoking initiation among young adults in the United States and Canada, 1998-2010: a systematic review. Prev Chronic Dis. 2012;9:E05. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2012/11_0037.htm

128. Flay B. Youth tobacco use: risks, patterns, and control. In: Slade J, Orleans CT, editors. Nicotine addiction: principles and management. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 1993. p. 365-84.

129. Park S, June KJ. The importance of smoking definitions for the study of adolescent smoking behavior. J Korean Acad Nurs. 2006;36(4):612-20. Available from: <u>https://www.jkan.or.kr/DOIx.php?id=10.4040/jkan.2006.36.4.612</u>

130. National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training. Smoking reduction [Internet]. Dorchester, UK: National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training; 2012 [cited 2017 Feb 1]. Available from: <u>http://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/Briefing%202.pdf</u>

131. Pierce JP, Choi WS, Gilpin EA, Farkas AJ, Merritt RK. Validation of susceptibility as a predictor of which adolescents take up smoking in the United States. Health Psychol. 1996;15(5):355-61.

Appendix A: Report Summary (August 2018)

Background

This appendix is a summarized version of the 2nd request for a technical response to the Ministry of Health and Long-term Care in August 2018.

A key feature of the August 2018 response was a consultation step with five tobacco scientists who attended a Scientific Advisory Meeting on July 27, 2018. An earlier version of the technical response was pre-distributed to the scientists who discussed and provided feedback at the meeting. Their comments were incorporated into a revised version that was subsequently circulated to them on July 30, 2018. The final version of the technical response incorporates their feedback.

We would like to thank the following scientists who attended the Scientific Advisory Meeting on July 27, 2018 to discuss and provide feedback on an earlier version of the bulleted summary of the technical response:

- Adam Cole, PhD(c), University of Waterloo
- David Hammond, PhD, University of Waterloo
- Pamela Kaufman, PhD, Ontario Tobacco Research Unit, University of Toronto
- Shawn O'Connor, PhD, Ontario Tobacco Research Unit, University of Toronto
- Laurie Zawertailo, PhD, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

The content below includes the evidence summaries as they appeared in the technical response following the feedback from the scientists. Additional background sections that were reviewed by the scientists, but not replicated in this appendix include: Direct Health Effects of E-Cigarettes, Trends, Legislation, Rapid Evolution of E-cigarettes, and NASEM (2018) Conclusions. The main body of this report includes and expands upon this material and the evidence summaries.

Q1: Is the use of e-cigarettes an effective cessation aid for smokers?

- E-cigarette effectiveness as an aid to quit smoking can be assessed at individual and population levels:
 - Challenges exist in conducting both types of studies. For individual-level studies, these include achieving sufficiently large sample sizes and following participants for a sufficient period. For population-level studies, challenges include knowing whether those using e-cigarettes are intending to quit or to reduce their smoking, and whether they are using nicotine-containing products in a manner likely to support cessation.
 - It cannot be assumed that effectiveness at the individual level will translate into population-level effectiveness. Individuals participating in controlled studies may differ from the general population of smokers in important ways such as motivation to quit and pattern of e-cigarette usage. At a population level, sufficient reach is required to have a population effect.
- The body of evidence examining the impact of e-cigarettes as a cessation aid for smokers included an evidence-based consensus report (NASEM),⁵ and an evidence review (PHE),⁴⁵ as well as one systematic review and meta-analysis,⁴⁸ one systematic review,⁴⁹ and 28 primary studies⁵⁰⁻⁷⁷ published since the NASEM report search conducted in Aug 2017.
- Overall, the NASEM report concluded that there is limited evidence that e-cigarettes may be effective aids to promote smoking cessation.
- Comparing the NASEM report with the most recent literature, more recent evidence from RCTs and observational studies do not provide additional support for e-cigarettes as an effective cessation aid. Specifically,
 - A recently published systematic review assessed e-cigarette effectiveness among vulnerable groups (i.e., mental illnesses, homelessness, substance use, or criminal justice system involvement) with the authors' concluding that they were hesitant whether e-cigarettes are effective for smoking cessation within vulnerable populations.⁴⁹ The second systematic review and meta-analysis re-analysed the two RCTs and other studies already included in the NASEM report.⁴⁸
 - RCTs: Two RCTs that were included in NASEM showed that nicotine-containing ecigarettes are more effective than e-cigarettes without nicotine for smoking cessation and harm reduction. Two more recent RCTs did not find a statistically significant difference in cessation or harm reduction comparing nicotine and non-nicotine e-

cigarettes. In one study, the study population was too small for the observed difference in cessation rates to reach statistical significance.⁷⁴ In the other study, both the nicotine and non-nicotine e-cigarettes achieved similarly significant cessation rates versus a control group.⁶³

- Observational studies: While the results were mixed, NASEM concluded that there is moderate evidence from observational studies that more frequent use of e-cigarettes is associated with increased likelihood of cessation. Of eleven recently published longitudinal studies, four studies found a positive association ^{64,69,71,72} while seven studies found a negative or no association between various measures of e-cigarettes use and smoking cessation and/or harm reduction. ^{52-54,59,61,76,77} Two pre-post studies found a positive association between e-cigarettes and cessation. ^{64,69} All seven cross-sectional studies found that using e-cigarettes was not associated with smoking cessation. ^{58,65} Among these 20 studies, only five reported whether the e-cigarettes contained nicotine and only three of these specified the specific nicotine content.
- Considering the effectiveness of e-cigarettes compared with other cessation aids, NASEM concluded that there was insufficient evidence regarding the effectiveness of e-cigarettes compared with proven smoking cessation treatments. From the more recent literature, based on one RCT,⁶⁷ two longitudinal^{59,73} and two cross-sectional studies,^{66,68} e-cigarettes were less effective for smoking cessation and harm reduction compared to standard cessation treatments such as financial incentives, NRT, and pharmacotherapy (e.g., bupropion and varenicline). While the RCT had a sufficient number of study participants to detect a difference among treatment groups, it did not find a significant cessation effect for either e-cigarettes or any of the proven cessation therapies, calling into question the certainty of these findings.
- The NASEM report described population-level studies in which e-cigarette use was associated with one or more of quit attempts, quit attempt success rates, and cessation. Two more recent time series studies from the US and England observed differing results. The US study observed that e-cigarette use was more prevalent among unsuccessful quitters and recent quitters with an increase in the proportion of recent quitters who reported switching completely from smoking to e-cigarettes.^{51,75} The English study, however, did not find a clear association between e-cigarette use and smoking, daily cigarette consumption, smoking reduction, or temporary abstinence.⁵⁰
- There needs to be more research on the effectiveness of e-cigarettes (with or without nicotine) as a smoking cessation aid and identify groups for which e-cigarettes may be more effective as a cessation aid. Further research is also required on the health effects of dual use.

Q2: Does the use of e-cigarettes in non-smoking youth and young people increase the likelihood of smoking initiation?

- The body of evidence examining the impact of e-cigarette use on smoking initiation among nonsmoking youth and adults included an evidence-based consensus report (NASEM),⁵ an evidence review (PHE)⁴⁵ and a systematic review,⁹² as well as 11 primary studies^{77,82-91} published since the NASEM report search conducted in Aug 2017.
- Overall the NASEM report concluded that e-cigarette use was associated with increased risk of ever smoking, and among these youth and young adults, increased frequency and intensity of subsequent smoking.⁵ There was limited evidence that e-cigarette use increased the duration of subsequent smoking.⁵
- Other reviews were consistent with the findings of the NASEM report.^{45,92} In the most recent literature, all included primary studies suggested that e-cigarette use is associated with subsequent smoking initiation among youth and young adults.^{77,82-91} However, common risk factors influence the relationship between e-cigarette use and subsequent smoking initiation.
- More research is needed on the trajectory of e-cigarette and smoking in those with little or no smoking experience including:
 - how different e-cigarette product characteristics (e.g., flavouring, nicotine levels, product design) are associated with different risks of e-cigarette and smoking initiation and progression; and,
 - the influence of social media and social exposure, especially among those with high use of social media who are also susceptible to smoking.

Q3: Are there health risks associated with exposure to secondhand vapour from e-cigarettes?

- The body of evidence examining the health risks associated with secondhand e-cigarette aerosol emissions included an evidence-based consensus report (NASEM 2018),⁵ and five primary studies⁹⁴⁻⁹⁸ published since the NASEM report search conducted in Aug 2017.
- Overall, the NASEM report concluded that e-cigarette use increases airborne concentrations of particulate matter, nicotine and other toxicants (e.g., propylene glycol, glycerol, VOCs, carbonyls, and some heavy metals) in indoor environments compared with background levels.⁵
- Compared with combustible cigarettes, secondhand exposure to e-cigarette aerosol has lower levels of many substances (e.g., nicotine, particulates), but some exposures may be higher (e.g., some metals).⁵
- Neither the NASEM report nor the subsequently published literature included studies addressing exposures in outdoor locations.
- The most recent literature included a study of e-cigarette aerosol emissions in a real-world indoor setting, indoor lab / room simulated studies, and a modelling study. Across studies, there is variability in the levels of particulate matter due to various environmental conditions such as room size, the number of active e-cigarettes/users, the type of e-cigarette being used (e.g., first generation, second generation and voltage type), and the users' behaviour (e.g., puff frequency, duration, volume).⁹⁴⁻⁹⁷ Findings from specific study settings include:
 - A real-world study that found indoor concentrations of e-cigarette particulate matter and VOCs during e-cigarette use are higher compared to baseline levels when no ecigarettes are being used.⁹⁴
 - Lab-based / room simulated studies that found increased levels of exposure to secondhand aerosol emissions (i.e., particle concentrations)^{96,97} and results from biological measures (i.e., serum cotinine levels) demonstrating that non-users experience systemic nicotine absorption from acute exposure to secondhand e-cigarette aerosols.⁹⁵
 - A lab based / room simulated study which showed exhaled e-cigarette aerosol particle concentration is greater when in closer proximity to the e-cigarette aerosol emission source (i.e., greatest concentration within 0.5 metres compared to no recorded concentration at 2 metres).⁹⁶ The concentration of particles was shown to decrease to background levels after 10 seconds following the e-cigarette exhaled puff.⁹⁶

- A modelling study found that the excess lifetime risk of lung cancer was lower from exposure to secondhand e-cigarette aerosol emissions compared to secondhand cigarette smoke, recognizing that various factors (e.g., dose exposure of e-cigarette emissions, toxicity of the e-juice or the compounds of the liquid in the e-cigarette) can influence the extent of e-cigarette aerosol exposure.⁹⁸
- More research is needed on health risks from exposure to e-cigarette secondhand aerosol emissions, as well as more information on what happens to the aerosol emissions in various indoor (e.g., in multi-unit housing or adjoining rooms) and outdoor environments (e.g., patios, public spaces).

Putting It All Together

- The body of evidence exploring the effect of e-cigarettes on overall smoking prevalence and other health effects included an evidence-based consensus report (NASEM),⁵ a population time series study,⁵⁰ six non-industry sponsored modelling studies⁹⁹⁻¹⁰⁴ and three jurisdictional comparison studies.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰
- The NASEM report indicated that the net impact from e-cigarettes is dependent upon:
 - the possibility that some groups experience harm (e.g., youth initiation of smoking), and the possibility that some groups experience benefits (e.g., adult smokers who quit or reduce smoking).⁵
- Reflected in the preceding evidence summaries for Questions 1 and 2, these possibilities are not yet clearly known and may change as ongoing research provides more evidence, and as products and the marketplace evolve.
- NASEM's and subsequent modelling studies have attempted to assess net impacts, but due to the uncertainties of the assumed harms and benefits associated with e-cigarettes, their outcomes need to be interpreted with caution. Overall, the models highlight:
 - A need for accurate, detailed and up-to-date inputs into models
 - The importance of encouraging smokers to quit and discouraging exposure to tobacco and nicotine by youth.^{5,99-104}
- A population 10-year, time series study from England is available that assessed the impact of ecigarettes on cigarette consumption.⁵⁰ There was no substantial association between the rise in use of e-cigarettes and changes in cigarette consumption per day.

• Three recent available jurisdictional comparisons show that the regulatory environment has influence on the impact of e-cigarettes with use being lower in a more regulated compared to a less regulated environment.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ However, this is a dynamic relationship with a large number of potential other factors that influence the use of e-cigarettes beyond the regulatory environment.

Appendix B: Funding Sources

This table provides details about the direct funding of journal articles included in this report. 'Funding Source' lists all relevant sources of funding for the study. 'Competing Interests' describes previous funding not related to present work, author employment or provision of goods or services (for example, participation on an advisory board). Additional comments have been added where the study was either sponsored by industry or the authors had competing interests. These may include tobacco, pharmaceutical, chemical, and laboratory equipment/technology companies. Public Health Ontario reported based on information available in the published documents and did not conduct independent research to determine funding or industry participation.

Article	Funding Source	Competing Interests	Comments (if any)
Amato (2017) ⁷⁶	ClearWay Minnesota	No competing interests	None
Anic (2017) ⁷⁵	Food and Drug Administration's Center for Tobacco Products and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Office of Smoking and Health	No competing interests	None
Baldassarri (2018) ⁷⁴	Yale School of Medicine, Section of Pulmonary, Critical Care, and Sleep Medicine and the National Heart Lung, and Blood Institute Grant	Dr. Toll received grant from Pfizer for medicine for a research study; funding as expert witness against industry Dr. Chupp- received grants from NIH, Genetech, Glaxo Smith Kline, Astra Zeneca/Medimmune and Boston Scientific	Competing interests with Pharmaceutical Companies

Table 1: Funding Sources: Cessation Articles

Article	Funding Source	Competing Interests	Comments (if any)
Beard (2018) ¹¹²	Cancer Research UK, Pfizer, GSK, Department of Health-UK	Consultancy and travel funding from smoking cessation medication manufacturers, grants from Pfizer	Study partially funded by Pharmaceutical Companies. Competing interests with Pharmaceutical Companies
Benmarhnia (2018) ⁷³	Tobacco Related Disease Research Program, and the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI)	No competing interests	None
Berry (2018) ⁷²	National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute of the National Institutes of Health and the Center for Tobacco Products	No competing interests	None
Chen (2018) ⁷¹	Not reported	No competing interests	None
Ekanem (2017) ⁷⁰	No funding received	No competing interests	None
Etter (2018) ⁶⁹	Swiss Tobacco Prevention Fund (Swiss Federal Office of Public Health)	No competing interests	None
Gentry (2018) ⁴⁹	No funding received	No competing interests	None
Gorini (2017) ⁶⁸	Italian Ministry of Health/National Centre for Disease Prevention and Control	No competing interests	None

Article	Funding Source	Competing Interests	Comments (if any)
Halpern (2018) ⁶⁷	Vitality Institute grant (global health tank with focus on reducing chronic disease risk) to the University of Pennsylvania Center for Health Incentives and Behavioral Economics.	Dr. Troxel reports Other from VAL Health- a behavioral economics consulting firm, outside the submitted work. Dr. Volpp reports grants and personal fees from CVS Health, personal fees from VAL Health, grants from Humana, grants from Merck, grants from Weight Watchers, grants from Hawaii Medical Services Association, grants from Oscar Health Insurance, outside the submitted work.	Competing interests with Pharmaceutical Companies
James (2016) ⁶⁶	Not reported	Not reported	None
Kulik (2018) ⁶⁵	University of California Tobacco Related Disease Research Program Grant, FAMRI, NCI, FDA Center for Tobacco Products	No competing interests	None
Liu (2018) ⁴⁸	Not reported	No competing interests	None
Mantley (2017) ⁶⁴	NCI, FDA Center for Tobacco Products	No competing interests	None
Masiero (2018) ⁶³	Fondazione Umberto Veronesi (Umberto Veronesi Foundation)	No competing interests	None

Article	Funding Source	Competing Interests	Comments (if any)
Pasquereau (2017) ⁶²	Santé publique France, the National Public Health Agency	No competing interests	None
Rigotti (2018) ⁶¹	National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute	Rigotti reports a grant from Pfizer, UpToDate outside the submitted work	Competing interests with Pharmaceutical Companies
Rohsenow (2018) ⁶⁰	Brown University's Center for Alcohol and Addiction Studies, NIDA- NIH	Eissenberg- paid consultant against tobacco industry, and pending patent for device that measures puffing behaviour of e-cig	None
Selya (2017) ⁵⁹	NCI-NIDA, NIH	No competing interests	None
Subialka (2018) ⁵⁸	ClearWay Minnesota, Florida Dept. of Health, Oklahoma Tobacco Settlement Endowment Trust, Professional Data Analysts, Inc	No competing interests	None
Sung (2018) ⁵⁷	No funding received	No competing interests	None
Valentine (2018) ⁵⁶	New England Mental Illness Research, Education and Clinical Center; U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs; NIH, FDA	Consulting fees from Palo Alto Health Sciences and Mathematics Policy Research.	None
Vickerman (2017) ⁵⁵	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)	Employed with Alere Wellbeing- provider of quitline services in this study	None

Article	Funding Source	Competing Interests	Comments (if any)
Weaver (2018) ⁵⁴	NIH/NIDA, FDA-CTP	No competing interests	None
Wu (2018) ⁵³	Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health (COSH)	No competing interests	None
Young-Wolff (2018) ⁷⁷	Permanente Medical Group Delivery Science Rapid Analysis Program, Tobacco-Related Disease Research Program, NCI, NHLBI,	Prochaska- Pfizer which makes Smoking cessation medicine and been an expert witness against tobacco companies	Competing interests with Pharmaceutical Companies
Zawertailo (2017) ⁵²	Ontario MOHLTC	CIHR, CCS, Ontario Brain Society, Ontario MoH, OLA, CCO, CTCRI, GRAND, Pfizer Canada Inc., Health Canada, ECHO, NIDA, Johnson & Johnson Consumer HealthCare Canada, NABI Pharmaceuticals, V-CC Systems Inc., Ehealth Behaviour Change Software Co.	Competing interests with Pharmaceutical Companies
Zhu (2017) ⁵¹	NCI-NIH	No competing interests	None

Article	Funding Source	Competing Interests	Comments (if any)
Aleyan (2018) ⁸²	Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Institute of Nutrition, Metabolism and Diabetes	No competing interests	None
East (2018) ⁸³	Cancer Research, UK; UK Public Health Research Consortium	UK Centre for Tobacco And Alcohol Studies, National Institute for Health Research Biomedical Research Centre, Public Health England, Action on Smoking and Health, British Heart Foundation, Cancer Research UK	None
McCabe (2018) ⁸⁴	National Cancer Institute, NIDA-NIH	No competing interests	None
Morgenstern (2018) ⁸⁵	Federal Center for Health Education- Federal Ministry for Health	No competing interests	None
Penzes (2018) ⁸⁶	Fogarty International Center and National Cancer Institute-NIH	No competing interests	None
Primack (2018) ⁸⁷	National Cancer Institute	No competing interests	None
Treur (2018) ⁸⁸	European Research Council, Netherlands Organization for Health Research and Development, National Institute for Public Health and Environment (RIVM)	Not reported	None

 Table 2: Funding Sources: Youth Susceptibility Articles

Article	Funding Source	Competing Interests	Comments (if any)
Watkins (2018) ⁸⁹	US National Cancer Institute and Food and Drug Administration Center for Tobacco Products- NIDA, National Center for Advancing Transnational Sciences	No competing interests	None
Young-Wolff (2018) ⁷⁷	Permanente Medical Group Delivery Science Rapid Analysis Program, Tobacco Related Disease Research Program, NCI, NHLBI, State of California Tobacco-Related Disease Research Program	Dr. Prochaska- consulted to Pfizer, which makes smoking cessation medications, and has been an expert witness for plaintiffs' counsel in court cases against tobacco companies.	Competing interests with Pharmaceutical Companies
Conner (2017) ⁹⁰	UK Medical Research Council/ National Preventive Research Initiative	No competing interests	None
Chatterjee (2016) ⁹²	Not reported	No competing interests	None
Hines (2015) ⁹¹	Oregon Health Authority	No competing interests	None

Table 3: Funding Sources: Health	Risks Articles
---	-----------------------

Article	Funding	Competing Interests	Comments (if any)
Avino(2018) ⁹⁷	National Institute for Insurance against Accidents at Work (INAIL) Grant	Not reported	None
Scungio (2018) ⁹⁸	Not reported	Not reported	None
Melstrom (2018) ⁹⁵	Not reported	No competing interests	None
Martuzevicius (2018) ⁹⁶	Fontem Ventures B.V. Imperial Brands Group plc- (E-cig Manufacturer)	Authors are full time employees of Imperial Brands Group	Study funded by Tobacco Company. Competing interest with Tobacco Company
Kaufman (2018) ⁹⁴	Lung Association Ontario, OTRU, MOHLTC, CDC-NIDA	No competing interests	None

Glossary

Abstinence: Abstinence refers to having stopped tobacco use for a period of time; abstinence may be defined in various ways.⁷⁸

Continuous abstinence: Also called 'sustained abstinence' or 'prolonged abstinence', is a measure of cessation often used in clinical trials that involve avoidance of all tobacco use (not even a puff) since a point in time (e.g., end of treatment or a quit date) until the time the assessment is made. The definition allows for occasional lapses. This is the most rigorous measure of abstinence.⁷⁸

Point prevalence abstinence (PPA): A measure based on behaviour at a particular point in time, or during a relatively brief specified period. The most common point prevalence measure is no tobacco use (not even a puff) in the last seven days.⁷⁸

'Cold Turkey': Quitting smoking abruptly, and/or quitting without behavioural or pharmaceutical support.⁷⁸

'Dual Use': E-cigarette use among those who continue to smoke.⁵

Harm reduction: Strategies to reduce harm caused by continued tobacco/nicotine use, such as reducing the number of cigarettes smoked, or switching to different brands or products, e.g., potentially reduced exposure products (PREPs).⁷⁸ Note: whether a reduction in harm occurs with dual use is currently unknown. According to NASEM, "due to the health risks of combustible tobacco smoke from even low levels of use, e-cigarette use among those who continue to smoke (i.e., dual use) may only confer benefits if dual use is merely a transitional state, after which a user transitions completely to e-cigarettes (i.e., quits combustible tobacco cigarettes)."⁵

Nicotine: An alkaloid derived from tobacco, responsible for the psychoactive and addictive effects of smoking.⁷⁸

Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT): A smoking cessation treatment in which nicotine from tobacco is replaced for a limited period by pharmaceutical nicotine. This reduces the craving and withdrawal experienced during the initial period of abstinence, while users are adapting to being tobacco-free. The nicotine dose can be taken through the skin using patches, by inhaling a spray, or by mouth using gum or lozenges.⁷⁸

Quit attempt: An activity by a tobacco user in which the person tries to stop using with the intention of never using again. Some surveys only classify periods of abstinence as quit attempts that last for > 24 hours.

*The definition is not universal across studies. There are variations in time period, and quit attempts are often self-reported.¹¹³

Number of recent: The number of smokers who have made one or more quit attempts (stopped smoking for at least one day) in the past 12 months.

Incident: A single attempt to quit smoking for at least one day in the last six months.

Planned: A quit attempt that was planned ahead of time, perhaps by setting a quit date or obtaining treatment or assistive measures to support success in quitting.

Unplanned: A sudden or abrupt decision not to smoke any more cigarettes including those that might be remaining in the current pack.

Aided/assisted: A quit attempt in which the smoker used pharmaceutical or behavioral interventions.¹¹⁴

Unaided/ unassisted: A quit attempt in which the smoker did not use assistance in the form of pharmaceutical or behavioral interventions. ^{114,115}

Successful quit attempt: No longer smoking for a quantified length of time (e.g., one year, three months, etc.), achieving some form of abstinence.¹¹⁶

Quit intentions: Quit intentions represent the overall motivation, willingness, want or desire to quit smoking. Quit intention is typically measured in reference to a specific time frame (i.e., over the next seven days, 30 days, six months).^{117,118}

Quit lines: Telephone-based tobacco cessation counselling that offers a variety of services to help tobacco users quit.¹¹⁹

Quit rates: Proportion of smokers who are smoke-free for a given number of days at a given (time) follow-up.¹²⁰ e.g.,

- 1. Proportion of smokers smoke-free for seven days at six-month follow-up
- 2. Proportion of smokers smoke-free for 30 days at six-month follow-up
- 3. Proportion of smokers smoke-free for six months at six-month follow-up.

Relapse: A return to regular smoking after a period of abstinence. Terms sometimes used for a return to tobacco use after a period of abstinence, include a 'lapse' or 'slip', which might be defined as a puff or two on a cigarette. This may proceed to relapse, or abstinence may be regained. Some definitions of continuous, sustained or prolonged abstinence require complete abstinence, but some allow for a limited number or duration of slips. People who lapse are very likely to relapse, but some treatments may be effective to help people recover from a lapse.⁷⁸

Secondhand smoke (SHS): Tobacco smoke inhaled by people who are not actively engaged in smoking, which consists of a mixture of exhaled mainstream smoke and side stream smoke released from a smouldering cigarette or other smoking device (cigar, pipe, bidi, etc.) and diluted with ambient air. Secondhand tobacco smoke is also referred to as "environmental" tobacco smoke (ETS).¹²¹

Current Evidence on E-Cigarettes: A Summary of Potential Impacts

Secondhand e-cigarette aerosol: In contrast to combustible tobacco products, e-cigarettes do not produce sidestream emissions. Secondhand e-cigarette aerosol emissions are produced as the exhaled emissions from e-cigarette users (i.e., mainstream aerosol emissions).⁸

Smoker

Current: Someone who has smoked in the last 30 days and has smoked 100 or more cigarettes in their life.^{120,122}

Daily: Someone who reports smoking cigarettes every day (does not take into account the number of cigarettes smoked).¹²³

Heavy: 25 or more cigarettes per day; ¹²³ 20 cigarettes or more per day.¹²⁴

Moderate: 15 to 24 cigarettes per day;¹²³ 11-19 cigarettes per day.¹²⁴

Light: 14 or fewer cigarettes per day;¹²³ 1-10 cigarettes per day.¹²⁴

Ever: Someone who has ever tried a cigarette, even a few puffs.¹²⁵

Experimental: Those who have smoked less than 100 cigarettes in their life and have either smoked a whole cigarette over 30 days ago or smoked in the last 30 days.¹²⁵

Former: Smoked at least 100 cigarettes in his/her lifetime and has not smoked at all during the past 30 days.¹²⁵

Never: Someone who has never tried a cigarette, not even a few puffs.¹²⁵

Non: Former smokers and never-smokers combined.¹²³

Nondaily Occasional: Proportion of smokers smoking at least once in the past 30 days – not every day (this includes former daily smokers who now smoke occasionally).^{120,123}

Puffer: Someone who has just tried a few puffs of a cigarette, but has never smoked a whole cigarette.¹²⁵

Smoking initiation: Beginning to smoke, smoking onset or the progression from non-smoker to experimental or regular smoker.^{126,127}

Smoking progression/escalation: An increase in the frequency of smoking from baseline measure (e.g., progressing from smoking occasionally to smoking daily). Stages can include (a) non-susceptible non-smokers, (b) non-susceptible experimenters, (c) susceptible experimenters, (d) light smokers and (e) committed heavy smokers.^{128,129}

Smoking reduction: Cutting down the number of cigarettes smoked per day (i.e., smoke two cigarettes fewer per day).¹³⁰

Smoking susceptibility: The absence of a firm decision not to smoke.¹³¹

Tobacco cessation: The process of stopping the use of any tobacco product, with or without assistance, also called "quitting".^{78,79}

Public Health Ontario 480 University Avenue, Suite 300 Toronto, Ontario M5G 1V2 647.260.7100 communications@oahpp.ca publichealthontario.ca



Agency for Health Protection and Promotion Agence de protection et de promotion de la santé